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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

The Honorable Eugene Eoulcard, Mayor 
And the Honorable Members of the City Council 

City of Franklin, Louisiana 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-tj^e 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Franklin, Louisiana, 
(hereinafter "City") as of and for the year ended April 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements of the City's primary government as listed in the 
table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of intemal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free fi'om material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assmance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers intemal control relevant to the City's preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

Member of: 
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Member of: 
SOCIETY OF LOUISIANA 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

Basis for Adverse Opinion on Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units 

The financial statements referred to previously do not include financial data for the City's legally 
separate component units. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require the 
financial data for those component units to be reported with the financial data of the City's primary government 
unless the City also issues financial statements for the financial reporting entity that include the financial data 
for its component units. The City has not issued such reporting entity financial statements. The effects of this 
departure from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America on the assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net position, revenues and expenses of the 
aggregate discretely presented component units are not reasonably determined. 

Adverse Opinion on Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units 

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter described in the "Basis for Adverse Opinion 
on Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units", the financial statements referred to previously do not 
present fairly the financial position of the aggregate discretely presented component units of the City, as of 
April 30, 2020, or the changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Unmodified Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of April 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accoimting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Enyjhasis of Matter 

As described in Note 17 to the financial statements, the prior financial statements have been restated to 
correct a misstatement. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accoimting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that certain information 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements of the City's primary government, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements of 
the City's primary government in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with audting standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods 
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements ofthe City's primary government, and other knowledge we obtained dming 
our audit of the basic financial statements of the City's primary government. 

We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the budgetary comparison schedules on pages 
67-69, schedule of employer's share of net pension liability/asset on page 70, schedule of employer contributions 
on page 71, or notes to reqmred supplementary information on pages 72-74 because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 



The City has omitted management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements of the City's primary government, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the basic financial statements of the City's primary government in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements of the City's primary government is not affected 
by this missing information. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the City's primary government. The other supplementary 
information as listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required 
part of the basic financial statements of the City's primary government. The combining nonmajor fund financial 
statements on pages 76-77 have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements of the City's primary government and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on that information. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 27, 
2020, on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The 
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Kolder, Slaven & Company^ LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Morgan City, Louisiana 
October 27, 2020 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Net Position 
April 30, 2020 

ASSETS 

Governmental 
Activities 

Primary Government 
Business-type 

Activities Total 

Current assets: 
Cash 
Receivables, net 
Internal balances 
Due from other governments 
Prepaid expense 

Total current assets 

Noncurrent assets: 
Restricted assets 
Capital assets: 

Land and construction in progress 
Other, net of accumulated depreciation 

Total noncurrent assets 
Total assets 

DEFERRED OUTELOWS OE RESOURCES 

Deferred outflows related to net pension liability 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities: 
Accoimts and other payables 
Accrued liabilities 
Contracts and notes payable 
Current portion of long-term obligations 

Total current liabilities 

Noncurrent liabilities: 
Net pension liability 
Customer deposits 
Noncurrent portion of long-term obligations 

Total noncurrent liabilities 
Total liabilities 

DETERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

Deferred inflows related to net pension liability 

NET POSITION 

Net investment in capital assets 
Restricted 

Capital projects 
Debt service 
Other purposes 

Unrestricted (defrcit) 

Total net position 

1,555,180 
491,952 

2,337,513 
289,791 

89,474 
4.763.910 

4,828,698 
7,518,449 

12,347,147 
I7.III.057 

1.354.973 

532,483 
250,590 
62,003 

303,793 
1.148.869 

4.150.802 

2,681,845 

6,832,647 
7.981.516 

302.529 

9,361,509 

508,076 
14,373 
59,469 

238,558 

$ 10,181,985 

33,049 
544,290 

(2,337,513) 
4,450 
16,979 

(1,738,745) 

491,566 

10,000 
4,816,227 
5,317,793 
3.579.048 

244.240 

123,013 
36,139 
7,820 

308,670 
475.642 

758,329 
233,611 

1,964,796 

2,956,736 
3.432.378 

19,112 

2,552,761 

121,119 

(2,302,082) 

371.798 

1,588,229 
1,036,242 

294,241 
106,453 

3.025.165 

491,566 

4,838,698 
12,334,676 
17,664,940 
20.690.105 

1.599.213 

655,496 
286,729 
69,823 

612,463 
1.624.511 

4,909,131 
233,611 

4,646,641 

9,789,383 
II.413.894 

321.641 

11,914,270 

508,076 
135,492 
59,469 

(2,063,524) 

$ 10,553,783 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Activities 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Program Revenues 
Net (Expense) Revenue 

and Changes in Net Position 
Eees, Commissions, Operating Capital 
Eines, and Chaiges Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type 

Eunctions/Programs Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total 
Governmental activities: 

General government: 
Administrative $ 627,006 $ 393,140 $ 6,024 $ $ (227,842) $ $ (227,842) 
Judicial 580,642 152,538 6,957 - (421,147) - (421,147) 

Public safety: 
Eire 965,901 32,523 19,463 42,700 (871,215) - (871,215) 
Police 1,257,984 52,713 23,347 - (1,181,924) - (1,181,924) 

Public works 883,162 - 8,035 981,139 106,012 - 106,012 
Other funding 248,110 - 172,921 - (75,189) - (75,189) 
Recreation 409,600 - 15,168 - (394,432) - (394,432) 
Sanitation 2,216,515 951,281 14,127 - (1,251,107) - (1,251,107) 
Community development 149,720 - 94,927 - (54,793) - (54,793) 
Eood services 43,221 - 52,545 - 9,324 - 9,324 
Interest on long term debt 146,867 - - - (146,867) - (146,867) 

Total governmental activities 7,528,728 1,582,195 413,514 1,023,839 (4,509,180) . (4,509,180) 

Business-type activities: 

Water 2,135,669 1,702,940 - - - (432,729) (432,729) 
Interest on long term debt 85,610 - - - - (85,610) (85,610) 

Total business-type activities 2,221,279 1,702,940 . . . (518,339) (518,339) 

Total government $ 9,750,007 $ 3,285,135 $ 413,514 $ 1,023,839 (4,509,180) (518,339) (5,027,519) 

General Revenues: 
Taxes: 

Ad valorem taxes 751,042 - 751,042 
Eranchise 385,311 - 385,311 
Sales 2,668,297 - 2,668,297 

Intergovernmental 247,534 - 247,534 
Interest and investment earnings 1,912 1,709 3,621 
Insurance dividends 233,523 4,170 237,693 
Rentals 32,587 - 32,587 
Cemetery and mausoleum sales 74,395 - 74,395 
Debt forgiveness income 171,248 - 171,248 
Miscellaneous 61,381 13,624 75,005 
Gain on disposition offixed assets 48,823 - 48,823 

Transfers 110,158 (110,158) -
Total general revenues and transfers 4,786,211 (90,655) 4,695,556 

Change in net position 277,031 (608,994) (331,963) 
Net position, beginning, as restated 9,904,954 980,792 10,885,746 
Net position, ending $ 10,181,985 $ 371,798 $ 10,553,783 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Balance Sheet 
Governmental Funds 

April 30, 2020 

ASSETS 
General 

Liquid 
and Solid 

Waste 
Capital 
Outlay 

Cash and interest-bearing deposits 
Receivables: 

Taxes 
Accounts 
Due from other funds 
Due from other governments 

Prepaid expenditures 

Total assets 

$ 634,424 $ 

305,317 
23,672 

57,259 
75.714 

184,216 

162,963 

2,736,372 
23,370 
13.760 

$ 695,659 

209.162 

$ 1,096,386 $ 3,120,681 $ 904,821 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable 
Due to other funds 
Accrued liabilities 
Notes payable 

Total liabilities 

88,543 
383,559 
96,023 
46.847 

614.972 

$ 175,023 

24,883 
15,156 

215.062 

268,917 
15,300 

112.528 

396.745 

Fund balances: 
Nonspendable 
Restricted 
Committed 
Assigned 
Unassigned 

Total fund balances 

108.675 

8,816 
363.923 
481.414 

13,760 

2,891,859 

2.905.619 

508.076 

508.076 

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 1,096,386 $ 3,120,681 $ 904,821 



Total 
Other Governmental 

Governmental Funds 

40,881 $ 1,555,180 

468,280 
23,672 

2,736,372 
289,791 
89.474 

40,881 $ 5,162,769 

532,483 
398,859 
233,434 
62.003 

1.226.779 

122,435 
40,881 548,957 

2,891,859 
8,816 

: 363.923 
40.881 3.935.990 

40,881 $ 5,162,769 

(continued) 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Balance Sheet (continued) 
Governmental Funds 

April 30, 2020 

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds' Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position 

Total fund balances for governmental funds at April 30, 2020 $ 3,935,990 

Cost of capital assets: 
Land 864,766 
Construction in progress 3,963,932 
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 7,518,449 12,347,147 

Deferred outflows of resources related to net pension liability 1,354,973 

Long-term liabilities: 
Long-term bond and capital lease obligations (2,985,788) 
Net pension liability (4,150,802) 

Accrued interest payable (17,006) 

Deferred inflows of resources related to net pension liability (302,529) 

Net position at April 30, 2020 $ 10,181,985 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN. LOUISIANA 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Liquid 
and Solid Capital 

General Waste Outlay 
Revenues: 

Taxes $ 2,624,962 $1,179,688 $ 
Licenses and permits 377,538 - -
Intergovernmental 770,090 151,378 981,139 
Insurance rebates 233,523 
Fees, commissions, and charges for services - 799,903 -
Fines and forfeits 38,786 - -
Rentals 32,587 - -
Interest income 1,430 25 189 
Cemetery plot and mausoleum sales 74,395 - -
Miscellaneous 73,226 - 1,743 

Total revenues 4,226,537 2,130,994 983,071 

Expenditures: 
Current -

General government: 
Administrative 424,857 - -
Judicial 560,561 - -

Public safety: 
Fire 790,672 - -
Police 1,203,585 - -

Public works: 
Streets and drainage 717,688 - 1,678 

Other funding 248,110 - -
Recreation 322,962 - -
Sanitation - 1,991,208 -
Community development 109,001 - -
Food services - - -
Miscellaneous - - 353 

Debt service -
Principal 106,700 50,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges 55,776 10,015 -

Capital outlay 913,181 16,026 1,339,287 

Total expenditures 5,453,093 2,067,249 1,341,318 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (1,226,556) 63,745 (358,247) 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Proceeds from capital lease 861,347 - -
Proceeds from issuance of bonds - 233,691 -
Proceeds from sale of assets 48,823 - -
Debt forgiveness income - 171,248 -
Transfers in 405,788 131,511 1,041,849 
Transfers out (390,925) (1,169,237) -

Total other financing sources (uses) 925,033 (632,787) 1,041,849 

Net change in fund balances (301,523) (569,042) 683,602 

Fund balances, beginning 782,937 3,474,661 (175,526) 

Fund balances, ending $ 481,414 $2,905,619 $ 508,076 

12 



Other 
Governmental 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

52,545 

339 

268 

3,804,650 
377,538 

1,955,152 
233,523 
800,242 
38,786 
32,587 
1,912 

74,395 
74.969 

53.152 7.393.754 

424,857 
560.561 

1.471 
790,672 

1.205.056 

43.221 

719,366 
248,110 
322,962 

1,991,208 
109,001 
43,221 

353 

255,413 
79,106 

379.211 

412,113 
144,897 

2.268.494 
9.240.871 

(326,059) (1,847,117) 

223,525 
(132353) 

91,172 

(234,887) 

275.768 

861,347 
233,691 
48,823 
171,248 

1,802,673 
(1,692315) 
1,425,267 

(421,850) 

4.357.840 

$ 40,881 $ 3,935, 

(continued) 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances (continued) 
Governmental Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of 
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 

Total net change in fund balances for the year ended April 30, 2020 per Statement 
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Net change in compensated absences 

Cost of capital assets acquired or constructed 

Depreciation expense 

Loss on disposition of assets 

Principal payments on bonds and capital leases 

Change in accrued interest 

Proceeds from issuance of bonds and capital leases 

Effects of recording net pension liability and deferred inflows and outflows 
of resources related to net pension liability. 

Increase in pension expense 
Nonemployer pension contribution revenue 

Total change in net position for the year ended April 30, 2020 per 
Statement of Activities 

(421,850) 

42,110 

2,268,494 

(609,497) 

(150,209) 

412,113 

(1,970) 

(1,095,038) 

(248,898) 
81.776 

277.031 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
April 30, 2020 

Water 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 

Cash and interest-bearing deposits $ 33,049 
Receivables, net 544,290 
Due from other governments 4,450 
Prepaid expenses 16,979 
Due from other funds 79,157 

Total current assets 677,925 

Noncurrent assets: 
Restricted assets-

Cash 491,566 
Capital assets: 

Land 10,000 
Other, net of accumulated depreciation 4,816,227 

Total noncurrent assets 5,317,793 

Total assets 5,995,718 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outflows of resources related to net pension liability 244,240 

LIABILITIES 

Liabilities: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 123,013 

Accrued liabilities 36,139 
Notes payable 7,820 

Current portion of capital lease obligation 213,670 
Due to other funds 2,416,670 
Payable from restricted assets-

Revenue bonds 95,000 
Total current liabilities 2,892,312 

Noncurrent liabilities: 

Net pension liability 758,329 
Capital lease obligation 996,796 
Revenue bonds 968,000 
Customer deposits 233,611 

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,956,736 

Total liabilities 5,849,048 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows of resources related to net pension liability 19,112 

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 2,552,761 
Restricted 121,119 
Unrestricted (deficit) (2,302,082) 

Total net position $_^7^^798 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Water 

Operating revenues: 
Charges for services-

Water sales 
Street lights 
Mosquito control 
Other 

Miscellaneous 
Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses: 
Administrative and finance 
Water production 
Water distribution 
Meter department 
Street light fees 
Depreciation 
Mosquito control 
Miscellaneous 

Total operating expense 

Operating loss 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 
Insurance rebates 
Interest income 
Interest and fiscal charges 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Loss before contributions and transfers 

Transfers in 
Transfers out 

Change in net position 

Net position, beginning, as restated 

Net position, ending 

1,376,740 
172,101 
71,133 
82,966 
13.624 

1.716.564 

492,337 
614,933 
318,128 
130,055 
176,948 
330,269 
71,295 

1,704 
2,135,669 

(419,105) 

4,170 
1,709 

(85,610) 
(79,731) 

(498,836) 

842 
(111,000) 

(608,994) 

980,792 

$ 371,798 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Cash Flows 
Proprietary Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Water 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Receipts from customers and users 
Payments to suppliers for goods and services 
Payments to employees 

Net cash used by operating activities 

CASH FEOWS FROM NONCAPITAE 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Other receipts 
Payments to other funds 

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 

CASH FEOWS FROM CAPITAE AND 
REEATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
Interest and fiscal charges paid 
Principal paid on revenue bonds 
Principal paid on capital lease obligations 

Net cash used by capital and related 
financing activities 

CASH FEOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Interest on interest-bearing deposits 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 

Cash and cash equivalents, ending 

1,579,399 
(756,601) 
(852,967) 
(30,169) 

4,170 
19,947 
24.117 

(36,397) 
(85,610) 
(93,000) 

(158,409) 

(373,416) 

1,709 

(377,759) 

902,374 

£ 524,615 

(continued) 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 
Proprietary Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Water 

Reconciliation of operating loss, to net cash used by 
operating activities: 

Operating loss 

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used 
by operating activities: 

Depreciation 
Provision for uncollectible receivables 
Pension expense, net of nonemployer contributions 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable 
Due from other governments 
Prepaid expenses 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 
Accrued liabilities 
Notes payable 
Customer deposits 

Total adjustments 
Net cash used by operating activities 

$(419,105) 

330,269 
45,220 
27,113 

(130,647) 
(3,696) 
(3,132) 
183,994 
(4,412) 
(3,671) 
8,879 

449,917 
$ 30,812 

Non-cash investing activities: 
Assets acquired by capital lease $ 94,089 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The City of Franklin ("City") was incorporated April 15, 1876, under the provisions of a special 
charter. The City operated under a Mayor-Council form of government until August 1, 2004, at which time 
the City adopted a Home Rule Charter and now operates under an elected Mayor-Council, administrative-
legislative form of government. The City's operations include police and fire protection, streets and (Lainage, 
parks and recreation, residential waste collection services, certain social services and general and 
administration services. The City owns and operates an enterprise fund which provides water services. 

The accounting and reporting policies of the City relating to the funds included in the accompanying 
basic financial statements conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America applicable to state and local governments. Such accounting and reporting procedures also conform 
to the requirements of Louisiana Revised Statutes 24:513, the Louisiana Governmental Audit Guide and to 
the industry audit guide. Audits of State and Local Governmental Units. 

The following is a summary of certain significant accounting policies: 

A. Financial Reporting Entity 

The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary government, (b) organizations for 
which the primary government is financially accountable and (c) other organizations for which the nature 
and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause 
the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleadng or incomplete. 

GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended, established criteria for 
determining which component imits should be considered part of the City for financial reporting 
purposes. The basic criterion for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity is 
financial accountability. The GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial 
accountability. This criterion includes: 

1. Appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body, and 
a) The ability of the City to impose its will on that organization and/or 
b) The potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or to impose 

specific financial burdens on the City. 

2. Organizations for which the City does not appoint a voting majority but are fiscally 
dependent upon the City. 

3. Organizations for which the reporting entity's financial statements would be misleading if 
data of the organization is not included because of the nature or significance of the 
relationship. 
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Component Units -

Based on the previous criteria, the City has two component units, the City Court of the City of 
Franklin (City Court) and the Ward Three Marshal of the Parish of St. Mary (Marshal's Office). 

The City Court operates a court for the City of Franklin and the territorial jurisdiction throughout 
Ward Three of St. Mary Parish, Louisiana. The City Court collects all fines, forfeitures, penalties and 
costs assessed. The city judge is elected for a six-year term. The City Court's fiscal year ends on June 
30, which is different from that of the City, the primary government. The City provides the facilities in 
which the Court operates and has approval authority over certain expenditures of the City Court. 
Complete financial statements issued by the City Comt may be obtained directly fi"om the City Court at 
508 2*"^ Street, Franklin, Louisiana 70538. 

The Marshal's Office accounts for the activities of the Marshal in carrying out the duties of the 
City Court. The expense of carrying out these duties are defrayed by costs collected through the City 
Court and remitted to the Marshal's Office. The Marshal is elected for a six-year term. The fiscal year of 
the Marshal's Office ends on June 30, which is different from that of the City, the primary government. 
The City provides the facilities in which the Marshal's Office operates and has approval authority over 
certain expenditures of the Marshal's Office. Complete financial statements issued by the Marshal's 
Office may be obtained drectly from the Marshal's Office at PO Box 343, Franklin, Louisiana 70538. 

The City has chosen to issue financial statements of the primary government only. 

B. Basis of Presentation 

Government-wide Financial Statements -

The government-wide financial statements (the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the activities of the City. The effect of interfund activity, within 
the governmental and business-type acti\ities columns, has been removed fi"om these statements. 
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges 
for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
program are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific program. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, 
or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges pro\ided by a given program and 2) operating or 
capital grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular program. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues. 

Fimd Financial Statements -

The City segregates transactions related to certain functions or activities in separate funds in 
order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Separate statements are 
presented for governmental and proprietary activities. These statements present each major frnid as a 
separate column on the fund financial statements; all non-major funds are aggregated and presented in a 
single column. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating frnid of the City or meets the 
following criteria: 
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a. Total assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or 
enterprise fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that 
category or type; and 

b. Total assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual governmental or 
enterprise fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental 
and enterprise funds combined. 

The major governmental funds of the City are described below: 

General Fund - primary operating fund of the City. The general frnid is always classified as a major fund 
and is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another 
fund. 

Special Revenue Fund: 

Liquid and Solid Waste Fund— accounts for the receipt and use of proceeds of the City' s pro-rata portion 
of the St. Mary Parish %% sales and use tax. These taxes are dedicated to the construction, maintenance, 
and operations of sewerage or solid waste disposal systems, and police and fire protection. 

Capital Project Fund: 

Capital Outlay Fund— accounts for the receipt and use of funds received from grant sources for the 
purpose of acquiring assets or other capital expenditures. 

Proprietary Funds: 

Water Fund—accounts for the provision of water services to residents of the City. All activities 
necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fiind, including, but not limited to, 
administration, operations, maintenance, financing and related debt service, and billing and collection. 

C. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting 

Measurement focus refers to what is being measured; basis of accounting refers to when 
revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Basis 
of accoimting relates to the timing of the measurement made, regardless of the measurement focus 
applied. 

The govemment-wide statements and fund financial statements for the proprietary funds are 
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The 
economic resources measurement focus means all assets and liabilities (whether current or non-current) 
are included in the statement of net position and the operating statements present increases (revenues) 
and decreases (expenses) in net total position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized when earned including unbilled water services which are accrued. Expenses are recognized 
at the time the liability is incurred. 
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Governmental frnid financial statements are reported using the current financial resowces 
measurement focus and are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual, when they 
become both measurable and available. "Measurable" means the amoimt of the transaction can be 
determined and "available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be 
used to pay liabilities of the cmrent period. Sales taxes are considered measurable when in the hands of 
intermediary collecting governments and are recognized as revenues at that time. The City considers 
property taxes available if they are collected within 60 days after year-end. Expenditures are recorded 
when the related liability is incurred. 

Other major revenues that are considered susceptible to accrual include earned grant revenues 
and other intergovernmental revenues, charges for services and interest on investments. Licenses, 
permits, and fines are recognized when they are received because they are not objectively measurable. 

D. Cash and Interest-Bearing Deposits 

Cash and interest-bearing deposits include amounts in demand deposits, interest-bearing 
demand deposits, and time deposits. Deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market. 

For the purpose of the proprietary fund statement of cash flows, "cash and cash equivalents" 
include all demand and savings accounts. 

E. Short-Term Interfund Receivables/Pavables 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual frnids for 
goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as "due from other 
frnids" or "due to other funds" on the balance sheet. Inteiftmd receivables and payables between funds 
within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of net position. 

F. Receivables 

All receivables are shown net of an allowance account, as applicable. 

G. Prepaid Items 

Prepaids record payments to vendors that benefit future reporting periods and are also reported 
on the consumption basis. 

H. Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and vehicles, are reported in the 
applicable governmental or business-type acti\ities column in the govemment-wide financial statements 
and in the fund financial statements for the proprietary fund. All capital assets are valued at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available. Donated assets are valued at 
their fair market value on the date donated. Repairs and maintenance are recorded as expenses. Renewals 
and betterments are capitalized. Assets capitalized have an original cost of $2,500 or more. Depreciation 
has been calculated on each class of depreciable property using the straight-line method. Estimated 
useful lives are as follows: 
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Buildings 20 - 40 years 
Improvements 20 - 40 years 
Equipment 5-25 years 

1. Restricted Assets 

The "customers' deposits" classification is used to segregate those refundable resources received 
from customers currently on the system. 

L. Deferred Outflows of Resources and Inflows of Resources 

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to a future 
period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resowces (expense or expenditiffe) imtil then. The 
City reports deferred outflows of resources related to its net pension liability on its government-wide and 
proprietary funds statements of net position. 

Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future 
period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City reports 
deferred inflows arising fi"om unavailable revenues. Unavailable revenue occurs under a modified 
accrual basis of accounting and is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The City also 
reports deferred inflows related to its net pension liability on its government-wide and proprietary frnids 
statements of net position. 

M. Equity Classifications 

Government-wide Financial Statements -

Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components: 

a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any 
bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets. 

b. Restricted - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by (1) 
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted - All other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "net 
investment in capital assets." 

Fund Financial Statements -

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements. 
Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance for the City's governmental 
funds is displayed depicting the relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes 
for which resources can be used. In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balances are 
classified as follows: 
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a. Nonspendable - amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable 
form or because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

b. Restricted - amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation or because of constraints that are 
externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other 
government. 

c. Committed - amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal 
action of the City Council. The Council is the highest level of decision-making authority 
for the City. Commitments may be established, modified, or rescinded only through 
ordinances or resolutions approved by the City Council. 

d. Assigned - amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or 
committed but that are intended to be used for specific purposes. Intent can be expressed 
by the City Council. 

e. Unassigned - all other spendable amounts. 

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 
balance is available, the City considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an expenditure 
is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the City 
considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally 
unassigned funds, as needed, unless the council has provided otherwise in its commitment or 
assignment actions. 

N. Revenues. Expenditures, and Expenses 

Operating Revenues and Expenses -

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with the fund's ongoing operations. Operating expenses for the 
proprietary funds include the cost of personal and contractual services, supplies and depreciation on 
capital assets. It also includes all revenue and expenses not related to capital and related financing, 
noncapital financing, or investing activities. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition 
are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

Expenditures/Expenses -

In the govemment-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by fimction for both 
governmental and business-type activities. 

In the governmental funds' financial statements, expenditures are classified by character. In the 
proprietary fund, expenses are classified as operating or nonoperating. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expendtures of financial resources. 
Proprietary funds report expenses relating to use of economic resowces 

24 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Bad Debts -

Uncollectible amoimts due for ad valorem taxes are recognized as bed debts at the time 
information becomes available which would indicate collection of the particular receivable is unlikely. 
Although the specific charge-off method is not in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
pinciples (GAAP), the resulting difference between the allowance method and the specific charge-off 
method would result in an immaterial difference. An allowance for uncollectible utility receivables has 
been provided at April 30, 2020. 

O. Interfund Transfers 

Permanent reallocation of resources between fimds is classified as interfund transfers. For the 
purposes of the statement of activities, all interfund transfers between individual governmental funds 
have been eliminated. Interfund transfers between governmental funds and business-type frnids are not 
eliminated but are shown in the statement of activities as "transfers." 

P. Compensated Absences 

Fidl time employees of the City eam vacation leave based upon their total years of service. 
Vacation leave must be used within the fiscal year and cannot be carried over to subsequent periods. 

Q. Capitalization of Interest Expense 

It is the policy of the City to capitalize material amounts of interest resulting from borrowings 
in the course of the construction of fixed assets. For the year ended April 30, 2020, no capitalized interest 
expense was recorded. 

R. Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 
position of the Municipal Employees Retirement System, the Municipal Police Retirement System, and 
the Firefighters' Retirement System, and additions to/deductions fi"om the retirement systems' net 
positions have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plan. For this purpose, 
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable 
in accordance with the benefit terms and investments are reported at fair value. 

S. Use of Estimates 

The City's management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial statements. 
Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

(2) Cash and Interest-Bearing Deposits 

Under state law, the City may deposit funds within a fiscal agent bank organized under the laws 
of the State of Louisiana, the laws of any other state in the Union, or the laws of the United States. The 
City may invest in certificates and time deposits of state banks organized under Louisiana law and 
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national banks having principal offices in Louisiana. At April 30, 2020, the City has cash and interest-
bearing deposits (book balances) totaling $2,079,795 as follows: 

Governmental Business-type 
Activites Activities Total 

Demand deposits $ 1,554,580 $ 523,715 $ 2,078,295 
Petty cash 600 900 1.500 

Total $ I.555.I80 $ 524.615 $ 2.079.795 

These deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market. Under state law, these deposits, (or 
the resulting bank balances) must be secured by federal deposit insurance or the pledge of securities 
owned by the fiscal agent bank. The market value of the pledged securities plus the federal deposit 
insurance must at all times equal the amount on deposit with the fiscal agent bank. These securities are 
held in the name of the pledging fiscal agent bank in a holding or custodial bank that is mutually 
acceptable to both parties. Deposit balances (bank balances) at April 30, 2020 are as follows: 

Bank balances $ 2.098.648 

Federal deposit insurance $ 879,589 
Pledged securities I.2I9.059 

Total $ 2.098.648 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, the City's deposits may not be recovered or the collateral securities that are in the possession 
of an outside party will not be recovered. The City has not formally adopted policies that limit allowable 
deposits or investments and address the specific type of risk to which the City is exposed, nor a policy to 
monitor or attempt to reduce exposure to custodial credit risk. At April 30, 2020, deposits in the amount 
of $1,219,059 were exposed to custodial credit risk. These deposits are uninsured and collateralized with 
securities held by the pledging institution's trust department or agent but not in the City's name. 

(3) Ad Valorem Taxes 

Ad valorem taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1 of each year. Taxes are 
levied by the City in September or October and are billed to taxpayers in November. Billed taxes become 
delinquent on January 1 of the following year. The City bills and collects its own property taxes using the 
assessed values determined by the tax assessor of St. Mary Parish. 

City property tax revenues are budgeted in the year billed. 

For the year ended April 30, 2020, taxes of 19.64 mills were levied on property with assessed 
valuations totaling $37,593,951 and were dedicated as follows: 

General governmental services 13.82 mills 
Sewerage system maintenance 5.82 mills 
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Total taxes levied for the year ended April 30, 2020 were $733,775. 

(4) Receivables 

Receivables at April 30, 2020 consist of the following: 

Accounts 
Taxes 

Less: allowance for uncollectible 

Net receivables 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities 

"$ 851,777 

851,777 
- (307,487) 

$ 491,952 $ 544,290 

23,672 
468,280 

491.952 

Total 
$ 875,449 

468,280 

1,343,729 
(307,487) 

$ 1,036,242 

(5) Due from other Governments 

Amounts due from other governments at April 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 

Governmental Activities: 

State of Louisiana - Transportation grant 

State of Louisiana - Video poker 

St. Mary Parish Government - Parish share of City Court operating costs 

St. Mary Parish Government - Parish share of sewer plant operating costs 

St. Mary Parish Government - Share of sewer plant rehabilitation costs 

St. Mary Parish Consolidated Drainage District No. 1 - Share of Yokeley Canal 

project costs 

Total governmental activities 

$ 32,748 

1 

24,510 
23,370 

208,061 

1,101 

$ 289,791 

Business-Type Activities: 

St. Mary Parish Water & Sewer Commission No. 3 - Charges for services 

St. Mary Parish Water & Sewer Commission No. 4 - Charges for services 

Total business-type activities 

420 
4.030 

$ 4,450 
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(6) Changes in Canital Assets 

Capital asset acti\ity for the year ended April 30, 2020, was as follows: 

Balance Balance 

05/01/2020 Additions Deletions 04/30/2020 

Governmental activities: 
Capital assets not being depreciated: 

Land $ 825,187 $ 39,579 $ $ 864,766 

Construction in progress 2,850,698 1,113,234 - 3,963,932 

Total capital assets not being depreciated 3,675,885 1,152,813 - 4,828,698 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings 2,746,372 204,996 (325,666) 2,625,702 

Equipment 4,718,443 895,289 (586,525) 5,027,207 
Infrastructure 17,892,675 15,396 (12,898) 17,895,173 

Total capital assets being depreciated 25,357,490 1,115,681 (925,089) 25,548,082 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings (2,025,591) (36,649) 178,165 (1,884,075) 

Equipment (3,967,113) (198,226) 583,817 (3,581,522) 
Infrastructure (12,202,312) (374,622) 12,898 (12,564,036) 

Total accumulated depreciation (18,195,016) (609,497) 774,880 (18,029,633) 

Total capital assets, being 
depreciated, net 7,162,474 506,184 (150,209) 7,518,449 

Governmental activities 
capital assets, net $ 10,838,359 $ 1,658,997 $ (150,209) $ 12,347,147 

Business-type activities: 
Capital assets not being depreciated: 

Land $ 10,000 $ $ $ 10,000 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Water utility system 10,339,339 130,696 (50,486) 10,419,549 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Water utility system (5,323,329) (330,269) 50,276 (5,603,322) 

Total capital assets, being 
depreciated, net 5,016,010 (199,573) (210) 4,816,227 

Business-type activities capital 
assets, net $ 5,026,010 $ (199,573) $ (210) $ 4,826,227 
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Depreciation expense was charged as direct expense to functions as follows: 

Governmental activities: 
General government and administration $ 30,004 
Judicial 1,705 
Public safety: 

Police 55,189 
Fire 64,308 

Public works: 
Streets and drainage 140,123 

Community development 37,728 
Culture and recreation 81,543 
Sanitation 198.897 

Total depreciation expense, governmental activities $ 609.497 

Business-type activities: 
Water S 330.269 

(7) Long-Term Liabilities 

During the year ended April 30, 2020 the following changes occurred in long-term liabilities: 

Balance 
Beginning 

of Year Additions Deletions 

Balance 
End 

of Year 

Due Within 

One Year 
Govemmental activities: 

Compensated absences $ 42,110 $ $ (42,110) $ $ 

General obligation bonds 803,002 233,691 (51,250) 985,443 52,000 
Revenue bonds 1,304,000 - (184,000) 1,120,000 85,000 
Capital lease obligations 195,711 861,347 (176,863) 880,195 166,793 
Pension obligations 3,785,024 327,422 - 4,112,446 -

Total govemmental activities $6,129,847 $1,422,460 $(454,223) $7,098,084 $ 303,793 

Business- type activities: 
Revenue bonds $1,156,000 $ $ (93,000) $1,063,000 $ 95,000 
Capital lease obligations 1,274,786 94,089 (158,409) 1,210,466 213,670 
Pension obligations 659,516 98,813 - 758,329 -

Total business-type activities $3,090,302 $ 192,902 $(251,409) $3,031,795 $ 308,670 
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Bonds payable at April 30, 2020 are comprised of the following individual issues: 

$1,880,000 Taxable Limited Tax Bonds, Series 2018, payable 
in annual installments of $51,000 to $61,000 tiirough April I, 
2038, with interest at 0.95%; secured by ad valorem tax proceeds 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 1,120,000 

$1,650,000 Public Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, 
payable in annual installments of $70,000 to $120,000 through 
June 1, 2030, with interest at 3.70%; secured by excess annual 
revenues 

Total 

985.443 

$ 2,105,443 

$2,705,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 A and 
B, payable in annual installments of $75,000 to $I 18,000 through 
March 1, 2030, with interest at 3.45%; secured by water and sewer 
revenues from the Utility Fund and the Liquid and Solid Waste Fund 

Business-type 
Activities 

$ 1,063,000 

The City entered into a loan agreement with the Louisiana Department of Health and Hospitals 
(Department) relating to the issuance of the $2,705,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2009. The 
bonds were issued to finance the Water Rehabilitation Project. The bonds have been issued in two series, 
$811,000 of Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds Series A and $1,894,000 of Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 
Series B. The bonds were sold to the Department and the purchase price of the Series A bond shall be paid 
to the City by the Department in installments on an "as-needed" basis. As the Department pays the 
installments on the bond, the City's obligation to repay the principal for the Series A bond will be forgiven. 

The various bond indentwes contain significant limitations and restrictions as to the annual debt 
service requirements, maintenance of and flow of monies through various restricted accounts, minimum 
amounts to be maintained in various sinking funds, and minimum revenue bond coverage. The City is in 
compliance with all such significant limitations and restrictions. 
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The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of April 30, 2020 are as follows: 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities 
Year Ending 

April 30, Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total 

2021 $ 137,000 $ 42,789 $ 179,789 $ 95,000 $ 31,358 $ 126,358 
2022 142,000 39,318 181,318 98,000 28,556 126,556 
2023 143,000 35,754 178,754 100,000 25,664 125,664 
2024 148,000 35,354 183,354 102,000 22,714 124,714 
2025 153,000 28,995 181,995 105,000 19,666 124,666 

2026-2030 817,000 87,325 904,325 563,000 50,620 613,620 
2031-2035 408,000 9,801 417,801 - - -

2036-2038 157.443 1.324 158.767 - - -

Total $2,105,443 $280,660 $2,386,103 $ 1.063.000 $178,578 $1,241,578 

The City has entered into several capital leases to finance the acquisition of vehicles and equipment. 
Assets and related accumidated amortization imder capital lease are as follows: 

Vehicles - fire trucks 
Vehicles - police cars 
Equipment - backhoe 
Equipment - lawn mowers 
Equipment - pumps 
Water meters 
Less: accumulated amortization 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 1,401,592 
227,451 
74,562 
17.667 

(743,762) 

Business-t}pe 
Activities 

$ 977,510 $ 

94,089 
163,585 

(193,979) 

63.695 

Amortization of leased capital assets is included with depreciation expense. The City also rents 
various equipment at times on a short-term basis. 
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The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations 
together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as of April 30, 2020: 

Year ending Governmental Business-type 
April 30, Activities Activities 

2021 $ 166,793 $ 213,670 
2022 166,014 213,670 
2023 145,699 213,670 
2024 111,031 213,670 
2025 109,068 206,757 

2026-2030 348,230 289,367 

Total minimum lease payments 1,046,835 1,350,804 
Less: amount representing interest (166,640) (140,338) 

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 880,195 $ 1,210,466 

(8) Restricted Net position 

At April 30, 2020, the government-wide statement of net position reports the following restricted net 
position: 

Restricted by enabling legislation 
Net position otherwise restricted for: 

Debt service 
Summer feeding program 
Perpetual care: 

Nonexpendable 
Total restricted net position 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 524,632 

14,373 
9,952 

32,961 
$ 581.918 

(9) Net Position/Fimd Balance 

Net position is classified as net investment in capital assets, restricted and/or unrestricted. The 
amount of unrestricted net position presented in the government-wide statement of net position and the 
statement of net position for proprietary funds is significantly affected by the recognition of net pension 
liability in accordance with GASB 68. At April 30, 2020, the City reported liabilities in its government-wide 
financial statements of $0 and $758,329 in its governmental activities and its business-type activities, 
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension liabilities. The recordation of net pension liability 
on the City's government-wide financial statements resisted in a deficit of unrestricted net position of 
$2,302,082 in its business-type activities. 

Fimd balance is classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and/or unassigned based 
primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the 
resources in the governmental frnids. The constraints placed on fund balance for the major governmental 
frnids and all other governmental frnids are presented as follows: 
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General 
Liquid and 
Solid Waste 

Capitd 
Outlay 

Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

Totd 
Government^ 

Funds 
Fund balances: 

Nonspendable -
Perm^ent fund principd 
Prep^d items 

$ 32,961 
75,714 

$ 
13,760 

$ $ $ 32,961 
89,474 

Total fund balances - nonspendable 108,675 13,760 - - 122,435 

Restricted for -
Utility pl^t improvements 
Debt service 
School lunch program 
Drug enforcement 

- - 508,076 
14,373 
9,952 

16,556 

508,076 
14,373 

9,952 
16,556 

T otal fund balances - restricted - - 508,076 40,881 548,957 

Committed to -
Sanitation and sewer operations 2,891,859 2,891,859 

Assigned to -
Law enforcement 8,816 8,816 

Total fund balances - assigned 8,816 - - - 8,816 

Unassigned 363,923 363,923 

Total fund balances $ 481.414 $2,905,619 $ 508.076 $ 40.881 $ 3.935.990 

(10) Contingencies 

Threatened/Pending Litigation 

There are several lawsuits presently threatened or pending against the City of Franklin as of April 
30, 2020. In suits pending, legal counsel and management are of the opinion that any unfavorable outcome 
in these cases would be within the limits of the City's insurance coverage. 

Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City has elected to purchase 
insurance coverage through the commercial insurance market to cover its exposure to loss. However, it is 
the policy of the City to retain the risk of losses related to general public liability (excludng vehicles and 
buildings). The City is inswed up to policy limits for each of the above risks. There were no significant 
changes in coverage, retentions, or limits during the year ended April 30, 2020. Settled claims have not 
exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the previous three fiscal years. 
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(11) Interfund Transactions 

A. Receivables and payables 

Interfund receivables and payables at April 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 

Due to other funds 

Liquid Capital Nonmajor Water 
General and $olid Outlay Governmental Enterprise Total 

Due from other funds: 
General $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Liquid and $olid Waste 304,402 - 15,300 - 2,416,670 2,736,372 
Capital outlay - - - - - -
Nonmajor Governmental - - - - - -
Water Enterprise 79,157 - - - - 79,157 

Total $ 383,559 $ $ 15,300 $ $ 2,416,670 $ 2,815,529 

Interfund receivables and payables arise as a residt of transactions between funds when there is an 
expectation that the disbursing fund will be repaid or reimbursed by the recipient fund. 

B. Operating transfers 

Transfers between frnids for the year ended April 30, 2020 were as follows: 

Transfers in 

Transfers out: 
General 
Liquid and Solid Waste 

Nonmaj or Governmental 
Water Enterprise 

Total 

General 

300,788 

105.000 

Liquid 
and Solid 

131.511 

Capital 
Outlay 

$ 230,000 
811.849 

Nonmajor Water 
Govermental Enterprise Total 

160,925 
56,600 

6.000 
842 

390,925 
1,169,237 

132,353 
111.000 

$ 405,788 $131,511 $ 1,041,849 $ 223,525 $ 842 $ 1,803,515 

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them 
to the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the 
general fund to frnance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary 
authorizations. 

(12) Dedication of Proceeds and Flow of Fund-Sales and Use Tax 

The City collects sales taxes under four sales tax levies as follows: 

Proceeds of a 1% parish wide sales and use tax levied in 1966 (2020 collections $0). Tax is 
collected by the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is remitted to each participating 
municipality on a monthly basis. Proceeds of this tax shall be used for the following purposes: 
construction, acquisition, improvement, maintenance and repairs of streets, capital improvements, public 
works and buildings (including the acquisition of sites and necessary fixtures, equipment, furnishings and 
appurtenances, and the payment of obligations and refunding obligations which have been or may be 
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issued for the purpose of acquiring and improving public works and buildings); for payment or 
supplementing salaries of all municipal employees; for the operation of recreational facilities; for the 
acquisition, maintenance, repairs and payment of operating expenses of equipment, vehicles, and other 
machinery owned by the municipality; and for any other public purpose authorized by state law. 

Proceeds of a 3/4 of 1% sales and use tax levied in 1974 (2020 collections $0). Tax is collected by 
the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is allocated and distributed monthly as above. 
Proceeds are to be used for the construction, acqmsition, extension, improvement, operation, and 
maintenance of solid waste collection and disposal facilities, sewers and sewerage disposal works, and other 
facilities for pollution control and abatement, fire and police protection; and to pay debt service requirements 
on bonds issued for any of the above-mentioned purposes. The tax was reapproved for levy in 1987. At the 
time of reauthorization, voters approved a provision authorizing that the proceeds could also be used for law 
enforcement and fire protection costs. 

Proceeds of a 3/10 of 1% sales and use tax levied in 1982 (2020 collections $0). Tax is collected by 
the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is allocated and distributed monthly as above. 
Proceeds are defeated to the following purposes: operating and maintaining the police department, including 
the acquisition and maintenance of equipment and supplies; paying or supplementing the salaries of 
municipal employees; and purchasing, constructing, acquiring, extending and/or improving all or any 
portionof public works or capital improvements, including but not limited to the construction, improvement 
and maintenance of drainage, water, and flood control extensions and improvements and the acquisition, 
construction, improvement, maintenance and repair of streets, roads, and bridges. 

Proceeds of a U of 1% sales and use tax levied in 2001 (2020 collections $0). Tax is collected by 
the St. Mary Parish Sales and Use Tax Department and is allocated and distributed monthly as above. 
Proceeds are to be used for increased salaries for police departments and also for operating and maintaining 
the police department. 

35 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

(13) Employee Retirement 

Eligible employees of the City participate in one of four cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined 
benefit public employee retirement systems (PERS), which are controlled and administered by a separate 
board of trustees. These retirement systems provide retirement disability and death benefits to plan members 
and their beneficiaries. Pertinent information relative to each plan follows: 

A. Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS) 

Plan Description: The Mimicipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS), a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, was originally established by Act 356 of the 1954 
regidar session of the Legislature of the State of Louisiana to provide retirement benefits to employees of all 
incorporated \illages, towns, and cities within the state, which did not have their own retirement system and 
which elected to become members of the System. The City participates in Plan A of MERS. 

Eligibility Requirements: Membership is mandatory as a condition of employment beginning on the 
date employed if the employee is on a permanent basis working at least thirty-five hours per week. Those 
individuals paid jointly by a participating employer and the parish are not eligible for membership in MERS 
with exceptions as outlined in the statutes. 

Any person eligible for membership whose first employment making him eligible for membership 
in MERS occurred on or after January 1, 2013 shall become a member of the MERS Plan A Tier 2 or MERS 
Plan B Tier 2 of the system as a condition of employment. 

Retirement Benefits: Benefit provisions are authorized within Act 356 of the 1954 regular session 
and amended by LRS 11:1756-11:1785. The following brief description of the plan and its benefits is 
provided for general information purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more 
complete information. 

Any member of Plan A who was hired before January 1, 2013 can retire providing the member meets 
one of the following criteria: 

1. Any age with twenty-five (25) or more years of creditable service. 
2. Age 60 with a minimum of ten (10) or more years of creditable service. 
3. Any age with twenty (20) years of creditable service, exclusive of military service and 
unused annual and sick leave, with an actuarily reduced early benefit. 

Generally, the monthly amount of the retirement allowance for any member of Plan A shall consist 
of an amoimt equal to three percent of the member's monthly average final compensation multiplied by his 
years of creditable service. Final compensation is the average monthly earnings during the highest sixty 
consecutive months, or joined months if service was interrupted. However, imder certain conditions as 
outlined in the statutes, the benefits are limited to specified amounts. An additional regular retirement benefit 
can be received for any City marshal or deputy City marshal. 
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Any member of Plan A Tier 2 can retire pro\iding he meets one of the following: 

1. Age 67 with seven (7) or more years of creditable service 
2. Age 62 with ten (10) or more years of creditable service 
3. Age 55 with thirty (30) or more years of creditable service 
4. Any age with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service, exclusive of military service 
and unused annual and sick leave, with an actuarily reduced early benefit. 

Generally, the monthly amount of the retirement allowance for any member of Plan A Tier 2 shall 
consist of an amount equal to three percent of the member's monthly average final compensation multiplied 
by his years of creditable service. Final average compensation is the average monthly earnings dming the 
highest sixty consecutive months, or joined months if service was interrupted. However, under certain 
conditions as outlined in the statutes, the benefits are limited to specified amounts. Any City marshal or 
deputy City marshal shall receive an additional regular benefit computed on supplemental marshal's 
earnings. 

Survivor Benefits: Upon death of any member of Plan A with five (5) or more years of creditable 
service, not eligible for retirement, the plan provides for benefits for the surviving spouse and/or minor 
children as outlined in the statutes. 

Any member of Plan A, who is eligible for normal retirement at time of death and who leaves a 
surviving spouse, will be deemed to have retired and selected Option 2 benefits on behalf of the surviving 
spouse on the date of death. Such benefits will begin only upon proper application and are paid in lieu of 
any other survivor benefits. 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Benefits: In lieu of terminating employment and 
accepting a service retirement allowance, any member of Plan A who is eligible to retire may elect to 
participate in the deferred retirement option plan (DROP) for up to three years and defer the receipt of 
benefits. During participation in the plan, employer contributions are payable but employee contributions 
cease. The monthly retirement benefits that woidd be payable, had the person elected to cease employment 
and receive a service retirement allowance, are paid into the DROP Fimd. Interest is earned when the member 
has completed DROP participation. Interest earnings are based upon the actual rate of return on the 
investments identified as DROP funds for the period. In addition, no cost-of-living increases are payable to 
participants until employment which made them eligible to become members of the System has been 
terminated for at least one full year. 

Upon termination of employment prior to or at the end of the specified period of participation, a 
participant in the DROP may receive, at his option, a lump sum from the account equal to the payments into 
the accoimt, a true annmty based upon his account balance in that fund, or any other method of payment if 
approved by the Board of Trustees. If a participant des during participation in the DROP, a lump sum equal 
to the balance in his account shall be paid to his named beneficiary or, if none, to his estate. If employment 
is not terminated at the end of the three years, payments into the DROP fund cease and the person resumes 
active contributing membership in the System. 

Disability Benefits: For Plan A, a member shall be eligible to retire and receive a disability benefit 
if he has at least five years of creditable service, is not eligible for normal retirement and has been officially 
certified as disabled by the State Medical Disability Board. Upon retirement caused by disability, a member 
of Plan A shall be paid a disability benefit equal to the lesser of (1) an amount equal to three percent of his 
final compensation multiplied by his years of credible service, but not less than forty-five percent of his final 
compensation, or (2) an amount equal to what the member's normal retirement benefit would be based on 

37 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

the member's current final compensation, but assuming the member remained in continuous service until his 
earliest normal retirement age and using those retirement benefit computation factors which would be 
applicable to the member's normal retirement. 

Cost of Living Increases: MERS is authorized under state law to grant a cost of living increase to 
members who have been retired for at least one year. The adjustment cannot exceed 2% of the retiree's 
original benefit for each full calendar year since retirement and may only be granted if sufficient funds are 
available from investment income in excess of normal requirements. State law allows MERS to grant an 
additional cost of living increase to all retirees and beneficiaries who are age sixty-five and above equal to 
2% of the benefit being received on October 1, 1977, or the original benefit, if retirement commenced after 
that date. 

Deferred Benefits: Both plans pro\ide for deferred benefits for members who terminate before being 
eligible for retirement. Once the member reaches the appropriate age for retirement, benefits become 
payable. Benefits are based on statutes in effect at time of withdrawal. 

Employer Contributions: Contributions for all members are established by statute. Member 
contributions are at 9.50% of eamable compensation for Plan A. The contributions are deducted from 
the member's salary and remitted by the participating municipality 

According to state statute, contribution requirements for all employers are actuarially determined 
each year. For the year ending June 30, 2019, the actual employer contribution rate was 26.00% for Plan A. 

Non-Employer Contributions: According to state statute, MERS also receives one-fourth (1/4) of 
1% of ad valorem taxes within the respective parishes except for Orleans. MERS also receives revenue 
sharing frnids each year as appropriated by the Legislature. These additional sources of income are used as 
additional employer contributions and are considered support from non-employer contributing entities. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources: At April 30, 2020, The City reported liabilities in its government-wide financial statements of 
$2,705,063 and $758,329 in its governmental acti\ities and its business-type activities, respectively, for its 
proportionate share of the net pension liabilities of MERS. The net pension liabilities were measured as of 
June 30, 2019 and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension obligation was determined by 
separate actuarial valuations performed on each of the retirement systems as of that date. Under each 
retirement system, the City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City's 
long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2019, the City's proportional share of MERS was 
0.828828%, which was an increase of 0.100869% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2018. 

For the year ended April 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $491,410 and $174,086 
in its governmental acti\ities and business-type activities, respectively, related to its participation in MERS. 

At April 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
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Difference between expected and 
actual experience 

Changes in Assumption 

Net difference between projected 
and actual earnings on pension 
plan investments 

Changes in proportion and 
differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate 
share of contributions 

Employer contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date 

Governmental Activities 
Deferred Deferred 

Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources 

68.269 

267.926 

207.141 

318.087 

$ 65,913 

6.147 

Business-Type Activities 
Deferred Deferred 

Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources 

$ 18,591 

19,255 

75,569 

59,699 

,717 

521 

$ 861,423 $ 72,060 $ 244,240 $ 19,112 

Deferred outflows of resources of $407,804 related to pension resulting from the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an adjustment to the net pension liability in the 
following fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 

Governmental 
Activities 

~$ 263,812 
152,696 
34,215 
20,553 

$ 471,276 

Business-Type 
Activities 

"$ 74,409 
43,069 
9,651 
8,282 

$ 135,411 

Total 
$338,221 

195,764 
43,866 
28,836 

$ 606,687 

Actuarial Assumptions: The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present value 
of projected benefit payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive 
employees that is attributed to those employees' past periods of service, less the amount of the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position. 
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Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment mortality 
and future salary increases. Actuarially determined amounts regarding the net pension liability are subject 
to continual re\ision as actual results are compared to past expectations, and new estimates are made about 
the future. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation was based on the results of an 
experience study, for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2018. 

A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2019 are as follows: 

Municipal Employees' 
Retirement System (MERS) 

Plan A 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial cost method 

Expected remaining service lives 

Investment rate of return 

Inflation rate 

Projected salary increases, including 
inflation and merit increases: 

-1 to 4 years of service 
-More than 4 years of service 

Annuity and beneficiary mortality 

Employee mortality 

Disabled lives mortality 

June 30, 2019 

Entry Age Normal 

3 years 

7.0%, net of pension plan investment expense, including 
inflation 

2.5% 

6.4% 
4.5% 

PubG-2010(B) Healdiy Retiree Table set equal to 120% for 

males and females each adjusted using their respective male 
and female MP2018 scales. 

PubG-2010(B) Employee Table set equal to 120% for males 
and females each adjusted using their respective male and 
female MP2018 scales. 

PubNS-2010(B) Disabled Retiree Table set equal to 120% 
for males and females with the full generational MP2018 
scale. 

The investment rate of return was 7.0%, which was a .275 decrease from the rate used as of June 30, 
2018. The long-term expected rate of retiun on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected futwe real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected futwe real rates of 
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return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation and an adjustment for the 
effect of rebalancing/diversification. 

The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class 
included in the System's target asset allocation as of June 30, 2019 are summarized in the following table: 

Long-Term Expected 
Target Asset Portfolio Real Rate of 

Asset Class Allocation Return 

Public equity 50% 2.15% 
Public fixed income 35% 1.51% 
Alternatives 15% 0.64% 

Totals 100% 4.30% 

Inflation 2.70% 
Expected Arithmetic 

Nominal Return 7.00% 

The discoimt rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%, which was a .275% decrease 
from the rate used as of June 30, 2018. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discoimt rate 
assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates and that 
contributions from participating employers will be made at the actuarially determined rates, which are 
calculated in accordance with relevant statutes and approved by the Board of Trustees and the Public 
Retirement Systems' Actuarial Committee. Based on those assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate: The following presents the net pension liability of the 
participating employers calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the employers' net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discoimt rate that is one percentage point lower, or 
one percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2019: 

Changes in Discount Rate: 
MERS - Plan A 

Net Pension Eiability 

Current 
1% Discount 1% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
6.00% 7.00% 8.00% 

S 4,515,643 S 3,463,392 S 2,573,746 

Support of Non-Employer Contributing Entities: Contributions received by a pension plan from 
non-employer contributing entities that are not in a special funding situation are recorded as revenue by the 
respective pension plan. The City recognizes revenue in an amount equal to its proportionate share of the 
total contributions to the pension plan from these non-employer contributing entities. During the year ended 
April 30, 2020, the City recognized revenue as a result of support received from the non-employer 
contributing entities of $53,187 for its participation in MERS. 
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Payables to the Pension Plan: The City recorded accrued liabilities to MERS for the year ended April 
30, 2020 primarily due to the accrual for payroll at the end of the fiscal year. The balance due to MERS as 
of April 30, 2020 is $56,512. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued financial report for MERS available at www.mersla.com. 

B. Municipal and State Police Retirement System of Louisiana (MPERS) 

Plan Description: The Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System is the administrator of a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer plan. Membership in MPERS is mandatory for any fidl-time police officer 
employed by a municipality of the State of Lomsiana and engaged in law enforcement, empowered to make 
arrests, provided he or she does not have to pay social security and pro\iding he or she meets the statutory 
criteria. MPERS provides retirement benefits for municipal police officers. The projections of benefit 
payments in the calculation of the total pension liability includes all benefits to be provided to current active 
and inactive employees through MPERS in accordance with benefit terms and any additional legal 
agreements to provide benefits that are in force at the measurement date. 

The Mimicipal Police Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana issues a stand-alone report on 
their financial statements. Access to the audit report can be found on the System's website: www.lampers.org 
or on the Louisiana Legislative Auditor's website, www.lla.state.la.us. 

Benefit provisions are authorized within Act 189 of 1973 and amended by LRS 11:2211-11:2233. 
The following is a brief description of the plan and its benefits and is pro\ided for general information 
purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete information. 

Membership Prior to January 1, 2013: A member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been 
a member of MPERS and has 25 years of creditable service at any age or has 20 years of creditable service 
and is age 50 or has 12 years creditable service and is age 55. A member is eligible for early retirement after 
he has been a member of MPERS for 20 years of credtable service at any age with an actuarially reduced 
benefit. 

Benefit rates are 3.33% of average final compensation (average monthly earnings during the highest 
36 consecutive months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number of years of creditable service 
not to exceed 100% of final salary. 

Upon the death of an active contributing member, or disability retiree, the plan provides for surviving 
spouses and minor children. Under certain conditions outlined in the statutes, the benefits range from forty 
to sixty percent of the member's average final compensation for the surviving spouse. In addition, each child 
under age eighteen receives benefits equal to ten percent of the member's average final compensation or 
$200 per month, whichever is greater. 

Membership Commencing January 1, 2013: Member eligibility for regular retirement, early 
retirement, disability and survivor benefits are based on Hazardous Duty and Non-Hazardous Duty sub plans. 
Under the Hazardous Duty sub plan, a member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been a member 
of MPERS and has 25 years of creditable service at any age or has 12 years of credtable service at age 55. 
Under the Non-Hazardous Duty sub plan, a member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been a 
member of MPERS and has 30 years of creditable service at any age, 25 years of creditable service at age 
55, or 10 years of creditable service at age 60. Under both sub plans, a member is eligible for early retirement 
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after he has been a member of MPERS for 20 years of credtable service at any age, with an actuarially 
reduced benefit from age 55. 

Under the Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Duty sub plans, the benefit rates are 3% (generally) and 
2.50%, respectively, of average final compensation (average monthly earnings during the highest 60 
consecutive months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number of years of creditable service 
not to exceed 100% of final salary. 

Upon the death of an active contributing member, or disability retiree, the plan provides for surviving 
spouses and minor children. Under conditions outlined in state statute, benefits range from twenty-five to 
fifty-five percent of the member's average final compensation for the surviving spouse. In addition, each 
child imder age eighteen receives ten percent of the member's average final compensation or $200 per month, 
whichever is greater. If deceased member had less than 10 years of service, beneficiary will receive a refund 
of employee contributions only. 

Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA): The Board of Trustees is authorized to provide annual cost-
of-living adjustments computed on the amount of the current regular retirement, disability, beneficiary or 
survivor's benefit, not to exceed 3% in any given year. The Board is authorized to provide an additional 2% 
COLA, computed on the member's original benefit, to all regular retirees, disability, survivors and 
beneficiaries who are 65 years of age or older on the cut-off date which determines eligibility. 

No regular retiree, smvivor or beneficiary shall be eligible to receive a cost-of-living adjustment 
until benefits have been received at least one full fiscal year and the payment of such COLA, when 
authorized, shall not be effective imtil the lapse of at least one-half of the fiscal year. Members who elect 
early retirement are not eligible for a cost of living adjustment until they reach regular retirement age. 

A COLA may only be granted if funds are available from interest earnings in excess of normal 
requirements, as determined by the actuary. 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP): A member is eligible to enter DROP when he is eligible 
for regular retirement based on the member's sub plan participation. Upon filing the application for the 
program, the employee's active membership in the system is terminated. At the entry date into the DROP, 
the employee and employer contributions cease. The amount to be deposited in to the DROP account is 
equal to the benefit computed under the retirement plan elected by the participant at date of application. The 
duration of participation in the DROP is 36 months or less. If employment is terminated after the three-year 
period, the participant may receive his benefits by limip sum payment or a true annmty. If employment is 
not terminated, active contributing membership in the system shall resume and upon later termination, he 
shall receive additional retirement benefit based on the additional service. For those eligible to enter DROP 
prior to January 1, 2004, DROP accounts shall earn interest subsequent to the termination of DROP 
participation at a rate of half of one percentage point below the percentage rate of return of the system's 
investment portfolio as certified by the actuary on an annual basis but will never lose money. For those 
eligible to enter DROP subsequent to January 1, 2004, an irrevocable election is made to earn interest based 
on the system's investment portfolio return or a money market investment return. This coidd result in 
negative earnings rate being applied to the account. 

If the member elects the money market investment retum option, the ftmds are transferred to a 
government money market account and earn interest at the money market rate. 
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Initial Benefit Option Plan: In 1999, the State Legislature authorized MPERS to establish an Initial 
Benefit Option program. Initial Benefit Option is available to members who are eligible for regular retirement 
and have not participated in DROP. The Initial Benefit Option program provides both a one-time single sum 
payment of up to 36 months of regidar monthly retirement benefit, plus a reduced monthly retirement benefit 
for life. Interest is computed on the balance based on same criteria as DROP. 

Employer Contributions: Contributions for all members are actuarially determined as reqmred by 
state law but cannot be less than 9% of the employees' eamable compensation excluding overtime but 
including state supplemental pay. 

For the year ended Jime 30, 2019, the employer and employee contribution rates for all members 
hired prior to January 1, 2013 and Hazardous Duty members hired after January 1, 2013 were 32.25% and 
10%, respectively. The employer and employee contribution rates for all Non-Hazardous Duty members 
hired after January 1, 2013 were 32.25% and 8%, respectively. The employer and employee contribution 
rates for all members whose eamable compensation is less than poverty guidelines issued by the United 
States Department of Health and Human Services were 34.75% and 7.5%, respectively. 

Non-Employer Contributions: MPERS also receives insurance premium tax monies as additional 
employer contributions. The tax is considered support from a non-contributing entity and appropriated by 
the legislature each year based on an actuarial study. Non-employer contributions were recognized as 
revenue during the year ended June 30, 2019 and excluded from pension expense. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources: At April 30, 2020, The City reported liabilities in its government-wide financial statements of 
$918,729 in its governmental activities for its proportionate share of the net pension liabilities of MPERS. 
The net pension liabilities were measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total pension liability used to calcidate 
the net pension obligation was determined by separate actuarial valuations performed on each of the 
retirement systems as of that date. Under each retirement system, the City's proportion of the net pension 
liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative 
to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2019 the 
City's proportional share of MPERS was 0.101163%, which was a decrease of 0.004215% from its 
proportion measured as of June 30, 2018. 

For the year ended April 30, 2020, the City recognized a pension expense of $138,585 in its 
governmental activities related to its participation in MPERS. 
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At April 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

Governmental Activities 
Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Difference between expected and actual 
experience 

Changes in Assumption 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

1,928 

51,484 

59,688 

45,837 

69.711 

$ 28,265 

67.966 

$ 228,648 $ 96,231 

Deferred outflows of resources of $69,711 related to pension resulting from the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an adjustment to the net pension liability in the 
following fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 

17,251 
14,028 
16,526 
14.901 

62.706 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the 
present value of projected benefit payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and 
inactive employees that is attributed to those employees' past periods of service, less the amoimt of the 
pension plan's fiduciary net position. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the assumptions used 
in the June 30, 2019 actuarial funding valuation and were based on the results of an actuarial experience 
study for the period of July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014. In cases where benefit structures were changed 
after the stu(fy period, assumptions were based on the estimates of future experience. 
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A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2019 are as follows: 

Municipal Police Employees' 
Retirement System (MPERS) 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial cost method 

Actuarial cost assumptions: 

Expected emaining service lives 

Investment rate of return 

Inflation rate 

Projected salary increases 

Mortality 

Cost of Eiving Adjustments 

June 30, 2019 

Entry Age Normal 

4 years 

7.125%, net of investment expense 

2.50% 

Yrs of Service 
1-2 

3-23 
Over 23 

Salary Growth 
9.75% 
4.75% 
4.25% 

RP-2000 Combined Healthy with Blue Collar 
Adjustment Sex Distinct Tables projected to 2029 by 
Scale AA (set back 1 year for females) for healthy 
annuitants and beneficiaries 
RP-2000 Disabled Eives Table set back 5 years for 
males and set back 3 years for females for disabled 
annuitants 
RP-2000 Employee Table set back 4 years for males and 
3 years for females for active members 

The present value of future retirement benefits is based 
on benefits currently being paid by the System and 
includes previously granted cost of living increases. 
The present values do not include provisions for 
potential future increases not yet authorized by the 
Board of Trustees. 

The investment rate of return was 7.125%, which was a .075% decrease from the rate used as of 
June 30, 2018. 

The mortality rate assumption used was set based upon an experience study performed by the prior 
actuary on plan data for the period July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014 and review of similar law enforcement 
mortality. The data was assigned credibility weighting and combined with a standard table to produce current 
levels of mortality. This mortality was then projected forward to a period equivalent to the estimated duration 
of the System's liabilities. Annuity values calculated based on this mortality were compared to those 
produced by using a set-back of standard tables. The result of the procedure indicated that the tables used 
would produce liability values approximating the appropriate generational mortality tables. 
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The best estimates of the arithmetic nominal rates of retiun for each major asset class included in the 
System's target allocation as of June 30, 2019 are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 

Long-Term Expected 
Target Asset Portfolio Real Rate of 
Allocation Return 

Equity 
Fixed Income 
Alternative 
Other 

Totals 

48.50% 
33.50% 
18.00% 
0.00% 

100.00% 

3.28% 
0.80% 
1.06% 
0.00% 
5.14% 

Inflation 

Expected Nominal Return 

2.75% 

7.89% 

The discoimt rate used to measwe the total pension liability was 7.125%, which was a .075% 
decrease from the rate used as of June 30, 2018. The projection of cashflows used to determine the discount 
rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates and that 
contributions from participating employers will be made at the actuarially determined rates approved by 
PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on those assumptions, 
the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of retum on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

The following presents the net pension liability of the participating employers calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.125%, as well as what the employers' net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower 6.125% or one percentage point higher 8.125% than 
the current rate: 

Changes in Discount Rate: 
MPERS 

Net Pension Eiability 

1% 
Decrease 
6.125% 

$ 1,280,093 

Current 
Discount 

Rate 
7.125% 

$ 918,729 

1% 
Increase 
8.125% 

$ 615,582 

Support of Non-Employer Contributing Entities: Contributions received by a pension plan from 
non-employer contributing entities that are not in a special funding situation are recorded as revenue by the 
respective pension plan. The City recognizes revenue in an amount equal to its proportionate share of the 
total contributions to the pension plan from these non-employer contributing entities. During the year ended 
April 30, 2020, the City recognized revenue as a result of support received from the non-employer 
contributing entities of $23,347 for its participation in MPERS. 

Payables to the Pension Plan: The City recorded accrued liabilities to MPERS for the year ended 
April 30, 2020 primarily due to the accrual for payroll at the end of the fiscal year. The balance due to 
MPERS as of April 30, 2020 is $10,245. 
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Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued financial report for MPERS available at www.lampers.org. 

C. Firefighters' Retirement System (FFRS) 

Plan Description: The Firefighters' Retirement System (FFRS) is a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan established by Act 434 of 1979 to provide retirement, disability and 
survivor benefits to firefighters in Louisiana. 

Eligibility Requirements: Any person who becomes an employee as defined in RS 11:2252 on 
and after January 1, 1980, shall become a member as a condition of employment. Members in FFRS consist 
of ftdl-time firefighters, eligible employees of the retirement system, or any person in a position as defined 
in the municipal fire and police civil service system that earns at least $375 per month, excluding state 
supplemental pay, and is employed by a fire department of any municipality, parish, or fire district of the 
state of Louisiana, except for Orleans Parish and the City of Baton Rouge. 

No person who has attained age 50 or over shall become a member of FFRS unless the person 
becomes a member by reason of merger or unless FFRS received an application for membership before the 
applicant attained the age of 50. No person who has not attained the age of 18 shall become a member of 
FFRS. 

Any person who has retired from service under any retirement system or pension fund maintained 
basically for public officers and employees of the state, its agencies or political subdivisions, and who is 
receiving retirement benefits therefrom may become a member of FFRS, provided the person meets all other 
requirements for membership. Service credit fi"om the retirement system or pension plan from which the 
member is retired shall not be used for reciprocal recognition of service with FFRS, or for any other purpose 
in order to attain eligibility or increase the amount of service credit in FFRS. 

Retirement Benefits: Employees with 20 or more years of service who have attained age 50, or 
employees who have 12 years of service who have attained age 55, or 25 years of service at any age are 
entitled to annual pension benefits equal to 3.333% of their average final compensation based on the 36 
consecutive months of highest pay multiplied by their total years of service, not to exceed 100%. Employees 
may elect to receive their pension benefits in the form of a joint and survivor annuity. 

If employees terminate before rendering 12 years of service, they forfeit the right to receive the 
portion of their accumulated plan benefits attributable to their employer's contributions. 

Benefits are payable over the retirees' lives in the form of a monthly annuity. A member may elect 
an unreduced benefit or any of seven options at retirement. 

See R.S. 11 :2256(A) for addtional details on retirement benefits. 

Disability Benefits: A member who acquires a disability, and who files for disability benefits while 
in service, and who upon medical examination and certification as pro\ided for in Title 11, is found to have 
a total disability solely as the result of injuries sustained in the performance of his official duties, or for any 
cause, provided the member has at least five years of creditable service and provided that the disability was 
incurred while the member was an active contributing member in active service, shall be entitled to disability 
benefits imderthe provisions of R.S. 11 :2258(B). 
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Death Benefits: Benefits shall be payable to the surviving eligible spouse or designated beneficiary 
of a deceased member as specified in R.S. 11 :2256(B) & (C). 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP): After completing 20 years of creditable service and 
attaining the age of 50 years, or 25 years at any age, a member may elect to participate in the deferred 
retirement option plan (DROP) for up to 36 months. 

Upon commencement of participation in DROP, employer and employee contributions to FFRS 
cease. The monthly retirement benefit that would have been payable is paid into the member's DROP 
account. Upon termination of employment, a participant in the program has several options to receive their 
DROP benefit. A member may (1) elect to roll over all or a portion of their DROP balance into another 
eligible qualified plan, (2) receive a lump-sum payment from the account, (3) receive single withdrawals at 
the discretion of the member, (4) receive monthly or annual withdrawals, or (5) receive an annuity based on 
the DROP account balance. These withdrawals are in addition to his regular monthly benefit. 

If employment is not terminated at the end of the 36 months, the participant resumes regular 
contributions to FFRS. No withdrawals may be made from the DROP account until the participant retires. 

Initial Benefit Option Plan: Effective June 16, 1999, members eligible to retire and who do not 
choose to participate in DROP may elect to receive, at the time of retirement, an initial benefit option (IBO) 
in an amount up to 36 months of benefits, with an actuarial reduction of their future benefits. Such amounts 
may be withdrawn or remain in the IBO accoimt earning interest at the same rate as the DROP account. 

Cost ofLiving Adjustments (COLAs): Under the provisions ofR.S. 11:246 and 11 :2260(A)(7), the 
board of trustees is authorized to grant retired members and widows of members who have retired an annual 
cost of living increase of up to 3% of their current benefit, and all retired members and widows who are 65 
years of age and older a 2% increase in their original benefit. In order for the board to grant either of these 
increases, FFRS must meet certain criteria detailed in the statute related to funding status and interest earnings 
(R.S. 11:243). In lieu of these COLAs, pursuant to R.S. 11:241, the board may also grant an increase based 
on a formula equal to up to $1 times the total number of years of credited service accrued at retirement or at 
death of the member or retiree plus the number of years since retirement or since death of the member or 
retiree to the system's fiscal year end preceding the payment of the benefit increase. If there are not sufficient 
funds to fund the benefit at the rate of one dollar per year for such total number of years, then the rate shall 
be reduced in proportion to the amount of funds that are available to fund the cost-of li\ing adjustment. 

Contributions: Contribution requirements for employers, non-employer contributing entities, and 
employees are established and may be amended in accordance with Title 11 and Title 22 of the Louisiana 
Revised Statutes. 

Employer Contributions: According to state statute, employer contributions are actuarially-
determined each year. For the year ended Jime 30, 2019, employer and employee contribution rates for 
members above the poverty line were 26.50% and 10.00%, respectively. The employer and employee 
contribution rates for those members below the poverty line were 28.50% and 8.00%, respectively. 

Non-Employer Contributions: According to state statute, FFRS receives insurance premium 
assessments from the state of Louisiana. The assessment is considered support from a non-employer 
contribution entity and appropriated by the legislature each year based on an actuarial study. Non-employer 
contributions were recognized as revenue during the year ended Jime 30, 2019 and were excluded from 
pension expense. 
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources: At April 30, 2020, The City reported liabilities in its government-wide financial statements of 
$454,633 in its governmental activities for its proportionate share of the net pension liabilities of FFRS. The 
net pension liabilities were measwed as of June 30, 2019 and the total pension liability used to calculate the 
net pension obligation was determined by separate actuarial valuations performed on each of the retirement 
systems as of that date. Under each retirement system, the City's proportion of the net pension liability was 
based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2019, the City's 
proportional share of FFRS was 0.072603%, which was a decrease of 0.009035% from its proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2018. 

For the year ended April 30, 2020, the City recognized a pension expense of $114,987 in its 
governmental activities related to its participation in FFRS. 

At April 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

Governmental Activities 
Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Difference between expected and actual 
experience 

Changes in Assumption 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

41.361 

30.573 

137.025 

45.015 

32,795 

33 

99.700 

$ 253,974 $132,528 

Deferred outflows of resources of $45,015 related to pension resulting from the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an adjustment to the net pension liability in the 
following fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
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Year 
2021 $ 43,274 
2022 360 
2023 20,970 
2024 7,878 
2025 9,404 
2026 (5,455) 

$ 76,431 

Actuarial Assumptions: The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present value 
of projected benefit payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive 
employees that is attributed to those employees' past periods of service, less the amount of the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position. 

In February of 2017, the Board of Trustees adopted a recommendation to reduce the long-term rate 
of return assumption. The recommendation was formed after an analysis of the System's portfolio along 
with expected long-term rates of retum, standard deviations of retum, and correlations between asset classes 
collected from a number of investment consulting firms in addition to the System's investment consultants. 
New England Pension Consultants. Based on this analysis and after discussions with the Board, a plan was 
approved to reduce the 7.50% valuation interest rate in effect for the fiscal year 2016 actuarial valuation to 
7.00% over the coming five actuarial valuations with reductions of 0.10% each year. 

The fiscal year 2019 actuarial valuation was scheduled to be nm at a 7.20% valuation interest rate. 
However, prior to the completion of this valuation, a review of the valuation interest rate for fiscal year 2019 
was performed based upon an update to the G. S. Curran & Company Consultant Average Capital Market 
Assumptions for 2019 and an update to the actuary's reasonable range for the assimied rate of retum. To 
determine the reasonable range, the actuary computed an expected long-term portfolio retum and standard 
deviation based upon the system's target asset allocation and a thirty-year time horizon. Based upon the 
results of this study, ten thousand stochastic trials were run to determine a reasonable range around the plan's 
expected long-term portfolio rate of retum. The review found that the scheduled rate of 7.20% was no longer 
inside the reasonable range. Therefore, the assumed rate of retum for the fiscal year 2019 valuation was 
further reduced to 7.15%, which was foimd to lie within the actuary's reasonable range. 

The System's reductions in the valuation interest have been in part based upon a reduction in the 
expected long-term inflation rate. Therefore, the assumed long-term inflation rate has also been reduced over 
the same period. For fiscal year 2019, an assumed rate of inflation of 2.50% was implicit in the assumed rate 
of retum. After reviewing the cumulative reductions in the valuation interest rate over the past three years 
(i.e. 0.35%) and considering the recommendation that the fiscal year 2019 actuarial valuation be mn at a 
valuation interest rate lower than the Board's original reduction schedule, a decision was made to perform 
an interim review of the plan's salary scale assumption. Based upon this review, it was determined that it 
would be appropriate ,to reduce the plan's salary scale by 0.25% at each duration until a complete review is 
performed in the System's next experience study scheduled for the upcoming fiscal year. The remaining 
actuarial assumptions utilized for this report are based on the results of an actuarial experience stu(fy for the 
period July 1, 2009 - June 30, 2014, unless otherwise specified in this report. Additional details are given in 
the actuary's complete Experience Report for fiscal years 2010 through 2014. 
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A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2019 are as follows: 

Firefighters' Retirement System 

Valuation Date June 30, 2019 

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal 

Actuarial cost assumptions: 

Expected remaining service lives 7 years 

Investment rate of return 7.15% per annum (net of fees) 

Inflation rate 2.500% per annum 

Projected salary increases Vary from 14.75% in the first two years of service to 
4.50% with 25 or more year of service; includes 
inflation and merit increases 

Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs) For the purpose of determining the present value of 

benefits, COLAs were deemed not to be substantively 
automatic and only those previously granted were 
included. 

The investment rate of return was 7.15%, which was a .15% decrease from the rate used as of 
June 30, 2018. 

The mortality rate assumption used was set based upon an experience study performed on plan data 
for the period July 1, 2009, through June 30, 2014. The data was then assigned credibility weighting and 
combined with a standard table to produce current levels of mortality. This mortality was then projected 
forward to a period equivalent to the estimated duration of the System's liabilities. The RP-2000 Combined 
Healthy with Blue Collar Adjustment Sex Distinct Tables, projected to 2031 using Scale AA, were selected 
for employee, annuitant, and beneficiary mortality. The RP-2000 Disabled Lives Mortality Table set back 
five years for males and set back three years for females was selected for disabled annuitants. Setbacks in 
these tables were used to approximate mortality improvement. 

The estimated long-term expected rate of retum on pension plan investments was determined using 
a bmMng-block method in which best-estimates ranges of expected future real rates of retum (expected 
retums, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of retmn by weighting the expected future real 
rates of retum by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation, 2.75%. The 
resulting long term expected arithmetic nominal rate of retum was 7.94% as of June 30, 2019. Best estimates 
of real rates of retum for each major asset class included in the System's target asset allocation as of June 30, 
2019, are summarized in the following table: 

52 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

Asset Class 
Equity: 

U.S. Equity 
Non-U. S. Equity 
Global Equity 

Fixed Income 
Alternatives: 

Real Estate 
Private Equity 

Multi-Asset Strategies: 
Global Tactical Asset Allocation 
Risk Parity 

Target Asset 
Allocation 

21.50% 
17.50% 
10.00% 
31.00% 

6.00% 
4.00% 

5.00% 
5.00% 

100.00% 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 

Rates of Return 

5.^ 
7.52% 
6.59% 
2.17% 

4.14% 
10.52% 

4.37% 
4.67% 

The discoimt rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15%, which was a .15% decrease 
from the rate used as of June 30, 2018. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discoimt rate 
assumes that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates, and that 
contributions from participating employers and non-employer contributing entities will be made at the 
actuarially-determined rates approved by the Board of Trustees and by the Public Retirement Systems' 
Actuarial Committee taking into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on these 
assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of retum on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate: The following presents the net pension liability of the 
participating employers calculated using the discount rate of 7.15%, as well as what the employers' net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower 6.15% 
or one percentage point higher 8.15% than the current rate as of June 30, 2019. 

Changes in Discount Rate: 
Firefighters' Retirement System 

Net Pension Liability 

1% 
Decrease 

6.15% 
$ 658,340 

Current 
Discount 

Rate 
7.15% 

$ 454,633 

1% 
Increase 
8.15% 

$ 283,658 

Support of Non-Employer Contributing Entities: Contributions received by a pension plan from 
non-employer contributing entities that are not in a special funding situation are recorded as revenue by the 
respective pension plan. The City recognizes revenue in an amount equal to its proportionate share of the 
total contributions to the pension plan from these non-employer contributing entities. During the year ended 
April 30, 2020, the City recognized revenue as a result of support received from the non-employer 
contributing entities of $19,463 for its participation in FFRS. 
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Payables to the Pension Plan: The City recorded accrued liabilities to FFRS for the year ended April 
30, 2020 primarily due to the accrual for payroll at the end of the fiscal year. The balance due to FFRS as of 
April 30, 2020 is $6,530. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued financial report for the System available at 
www.lafirefightersret.com. 

D. Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System (LASERS) 

The Comt's judge participates in the Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System (LASERS). 
LASERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established by Section 401 of 
Title 11 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes (LA R.S. 11:401) to provide retirement allowances and other 
benefits to eligible officers, employees, and their beneficiaries. The employer pensions schedides for the 
Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. 

Benefits Provided: The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is pro\ided for 
general information purposes only. Participants shoidd refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete 
information. 

Retirement: The age and years of creditable service required in order for a member to retire with full 
benefits are established by statute, and vary depending on the member's hire date, employer, and job 
classification. Our rank and file members hired prior to July 1, 2006, may either retire with full benefits at 
any age upon completing 30 years of credtable service, at age 55 upon completing 25 years of credible 
service, and at age 60 upon completing 10 years of creditable service dependng on their plan. Those 
members hired between July 1, 2006 and June 30, 2015, may retire at age 60 upon completing five years of 
creditable service and those hired on or after July 1, 2015 may retire at age 62 upon completing five years of 
creditable service. The basic annual retirement benefit for members is equal to 2.5% to 3.5% of average 
compensation multiplied by the number of years of creditable service. Additionally, members may choose to 
retire with 20 years of service at any age, with an actuarially reduced benefit. 

Average compensation is defined as the member's average annual eamed compensation for the 
highest 36 consecutive months of employment for members employed prior to July 1, 2006. For members 
hired July 1, 2006 or later, average compensation is based on the member's average annual eamed 
compensation for the highest 60 consecutive months of employment. The maximum annual retirement 
benefit cannot exceed the lesser of 100% of average compensation or a certain specified dollar amount of 
actuarially determined monetary limits, which vary depending upon the member's age at retirement. Judges, 
court officers, and certain elected officials receive an additional annual retirement benefit equal to 1.0% of 
average compensation multiplied by the number of years of creditable service in their respective capacity. 
As an altemative to the basic retirement benefits, a member may elect to receive their retirement throughout 
their life, with certain benefits being paid to their designated beneficiary after their death. 

Act 992 of the 2010 Louisiana Regular Legislative Session, changed the benefit stmcture for 
LASERS members hired on or after January 1, 2011. This resulted in three new plans: regular, hazardous 
duty, and judges. The new regular plan includes regular members and those members who were formerly 
eligible to participate in specialty plans, excluding hazardous duty and judges. Regidar members and judges 
are eligible to retire at age 60 after five years of creditable service and, may also retire at any age, with a 
reduced benefit, after 20 years of creditable service. Hazardous duty members are eligible to retire with 
twelve years of creditable service at age 55, 25 years of creditable service at any age or with a reduced benefit 
after 20 years of credtable service. Average compensation will be based on the member's average annual 
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earned compensation for the highest 60 consecutive months of employment for all three new plans. Members 
in the regular plan will receive a 2.5% accrual rate, hazardous duty plan a 3.33% accrual rate, and judges a 
3.5% accrual rate. The extra 1.0% accrual rate for each year of service for court officers, the govemor, 
lieutenant govemor, legislators. House clerk, sergeants at arms, or Senate secretary, employed after January 
1, 2011, was eliminated by Act 992. Specialty plan and regular members hired prior to January 1, 2011, who 
are hazardous duty employees have the option to transition to the new hazardous duty plan. 

Act 226 of the 2014 Louisiana Regular Legislative Session established new retirement eligibility for 
members of LASERS hired on or after Jidy 1, 2015, excluding hazardous duty plan members. Regular 
members and judges imder the new plan are eligible to retire at age 62 after five years of creditable service 
and, may also retire at any age, with a reduced benefit, after 20 years of creditable service. Average 
compensation will be based on the member's average annual earned compensation for the highest 60 
consecutive months of employment. Members in the regular plan will receive a 2.5% accrual rate, and judges 
a 3.5% accrual rate, with the extra 1.0% accrual rate based on all years of service as a judge. 

Members of the Harbor Police Retirement System who were members prior to July 1, 2014, may 
retire after 25 years of creditable service at any age, 12 years of creditable service at age 55, 20 years of 
creditable service at age 45, and 10 years of creditable service at age 60. Average compensation for the plan 
is the member's average annual earned compensation for the highest 36 consecutive months of employment, 
with a 3.33% accrual rate. 

A member leaving employment before attaining minimum retirement age, but after completing 
certain minimum service requirements, becomes eligible for a benefit provided the member lives to the 
minimum service retirement age, and does not withdraw their accumulated contributions. The minimum 
service reqmrement for benefits varies depending upon the member's employer and service classification. 

Deferred Retirement Benefits: The State Legislature authorized LASERS to establish a Deferred 
Retirement Option Plan (DROP). When a member enters DROP, their status changes from active member 
to retiree even though they continue to work and draw their salary for a period of up to three years. The 
election is irrevocable once participation begins. During DROP participation, accumidated retirement 
benefits that would have been paid to each retiree are separately tracked. For members who entered DROP 
prior to January 1, 2004, interest at a rate of one-half percent less than the System's realized return on its 
portfolio (not to be less than zero) will be credited to the retiree after participation ends. At that time, the 
member must choose among available alternatives for the distribution of benefits that have accumulated in 
the DROP account. Members who enter DROP on or after January 1, 2004, are required to participate in 
LASERS Self-Directed Plan (SDP) which is administered by a third-party provider. The SDP allows DROP 
participants to choose from a menu of investment options for the allocation of their DROP balances. 
Participants may diversify their investments by choosing from an approved list of mutual ftinds with different 
hoMngs, management styles, and risk factors. 

Members eligible to retire and who do not choose to participate in DROP may elect to receive at the 
time of retirement an initial benefit option (IBO) in an amount up to 36 months of benefits, with an actuarial 
reduction of their future benefits. For members who selected the IBO option prior to January 1, 2004, such 
amount may be withdrawn or remain in the IBO account earning interest at a rate of one-half percent less 
than the System's realized return on its portfolio (not to be less than zero). Those members who select the 
IBO on or after January 1, 2004, are required to enter the SDP as described above. 

For members who are in the Harbor Police Plan, the annual DROP Interest Rate is the three-year 
average (calculated as the compound average of 36 months) investment return of the plan assets for the period 
ending the Jime 30th immediately preceding that given date. The average rate so determined is to be reduced 
by a "contingency" adjustment of 0.5%, but not to below zero. DROP interest is forfeited if member does 

55 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

not cease employment after DROP participation. 

Disability Benefits: Generally, active members with ten or more years of credited service who 
become disabled may receive a maximum disability retirement benefit equivalent to the regular retirement 
formida without reduction by reason of age. 

Upon reaching retirement age, the disability retiree may receive a regular retirement benefit by 
making application to the Board of Trustees. 

For injuries sustained in the line of duty, hazardous duty personnel in the Hazardous Duty Services 
Plan will receive a disability benefit equal to 75% of final average compensation or 100% of the final average 
compensation if the injury was the result of an intentional act of violence. 

Members of the Harbor Police Retirement System who become disabled may receive a non-line of 
duty (Usability benefit after five years or more of created service. Members age 55 or older may receive a 
disability benefit eqmvalent to the regular retirement benefit. Under age 55, the disability benefit is equal to 
40% of final average compensation. Line of duty disability benefits are equal to 60%of final average 
compensation, regardless of years of credited service or 100% of final average compensation if the injury 
was an intentional act of violence. If the disability benefit retiree is permanently confined to a wheelchair, 
or, is an amputee incapable of serving as a law enforcement officer, or the benefit is permanently legally 
binding, there is no reduction to the benefit if the retiree becomes gainfully employed. 

Survivor Benefits: Certain eligible surviving dependents receive benefits based on the deceased 
member's compensation and their relationship to the deceased. The deceased regular member hired before 
January 1, 2011 who was in state service at the time of death must have a minimum of five years of service 
credit, at least two of which were earned immediately prior to death, or who had a minimum of twenty years 
of service credit regardless of when eamed in order for a benefit to be paid to a minor or handicapped child. 
Benefits are payable to an unmarried child until age 18, or age 23 if the child remains a full-time student. 
The aforementioned minimum service credit requirement is ten years for a surviving spouse with no minor 
children, and benefits are to be paid for life to the spouse or qualified handicapped child. 

The deceased regidar member hired on or after January 1, 2011, must have aminimimi of five years 
of service credit regardless of when eamed in order for a benefit to be paid to a minor child. The 
aforementioned minimum service credit requirements for a smviving spouse are 10 years, 2 years being 
eamed immediately prior to death, and active state service at the time of death, or a minimum of 20 years of 
service credit regardless of when eamed. A deceased member's spouse must have been married for at least 
one year before death. 

A Hazardous Duty Services Plan member's surviving spouse and minor or handicapped or mentally 
incapacitated child or children are entitled to survivor benefits of 80% of the member's final average 
compensation if the member was killed in the line of duty. If the member dies in the line of duty as a result 
of an intentional act of violence, survivor benefits may be increased to 100% of the members final average 
compensation. 

Non-line of duty survivor benefits of the Harbor Police Retirement System may be received after a 
minimum of five years of created service. Survivor benefits paid to a surviving spouse without children are 
equal to 40% of final average compensation and cease upon remarriage. Surviving spouse with children 
under 18 benefits are equal to 60% of final average compensation, and cease upon remarriage, and children 
turning 18. No minimum service credit is required for line of duty survivor benefits which are equal to 60% 
of final average compensation to surviving spouse, or 100% of final average compensation if the injury was 
the result of an intentional act of violence regardless of children. Line of duty survivor benefits cease upon 

56 



CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

remarriage, and then benefit is paid to chil(Len under 18. 

Permanent Benefit Increases/Cost-of-Li\ing Adjustments: As fully described in Title 11 of the 
Louisiana Revised Statutes, LASERS allows for the payment of permanent benefit increases, also known as 
cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs) that are funded through investment earnings when recommended by 
the Board of Trustees and approved by the State Legislature. 

Contributions: The employer contribution rate is established annually imder La. R.S. 11:401-11:104 
by the Public Retirement Systems' Actuarial Committee (PRSAC), taking into consideration the 
recommendation of the System's Actuary. Each plan pays a separate actuarily-determined employer 
contribution rate. However, all assets of LASERS are used for the payment of benefits for all classes of 
members, regardless of their plan membership. The rates for the year ended June 30, 2019 for the various 
plans are as follows: 

Plan Contributions 
Plan Status Employer 

Appellate Law Clerks Closed 37.9% 
Appellate Law Clerks hired on or after 7/01/06 Open 37.9% 
Alcohol Tobacco Control Closed 31.4% 
Bridge Police Closed 36.7% 
Bridge Police hired on or after 7/01/06 Closed 36.7% 
Corrections Primary Closed 33.5% 
Corrections Secondary Closed 37.7% 
Harbor Police Closed 7.1% 
Hazardous Duty Open 38.5% 
Judges hired before 1/1/2011 Closed 40.1% 
Judges hired after 12/31/2010 Closed 39.0% 
Judges hired on or after 7/1/15 Open 39.0% 
Legislators Closed 41.6% 
Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) before 7/01/06 Closed 37.9% 
Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) on or after 7/01/06 Closed 37.9% 
Peace Officers Closed 36.7% 
Regular Employees hired before 7/01/06 Closed 37.9% 
Regular Employees hired on or after 7/01/06 Closed 37.9% 
Regular Employees hired on or after 1/1/11 Closed 37.9% 
Regular Employees hired on or after 7/1/15 Open 37.9% 
Special Legislative Employees Closed 43.6% 
Wildlife Agents Closed 46.3% 
Aggregate Rate 37.9% 

The agency's contractually reqmred composite contribution rate for the year ended April 30, 2020 
was 40.1% of annual payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee 
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year with an 
additional amount to finance any Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability. Contributions to the pension plan 
from the Court were $8,927 for the year ended April 30, 2020. 
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions: At April 30, 2020, the City reported a liability of $72,377 for its proportionate 
share of the LASERS net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of Jime 30, 2019 and 
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension obligation was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of that date. The City's proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-
term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2019, the City's proportion was 0.001000%, which was a 
decrease of 0.000020% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2018. 

For the year ended April 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $8,437 in its 
governmental activities related to its participation in LASERS. 

At April 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to LASERS from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
of Resources of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual 
expenses $ 444 $ 150 

Change of assumptions 620 

Net differences between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan investments 2,501 

Change in proportion and differences between 
employer contributions and proportionate share 
of contributions - 1,560 

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date -

Total $ 10,928 $ 1,710 

Deferred outflows of resources of $7,363 related to pension resulting from the City's contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an adjustment to the net pension liability in the 
following fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year 

2021 $ 957 

2022 (728) 
2023 688 
2024 938 

$ 1,855 
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Contributions - Proportionate Share: Differences between contributions remitted to the System and 
the employer's proportionate share are recognized in pension expense using the straight 
line amortization method over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives 
of all employees that are provided with a pension through the pension plan. The resisting deferred 
inflow/outflow and amortization is not reflected in the Schedule of Pension Amounts by Employer due to 
differences that could arise between contributions reported by the System and contributions reported by the 
participating employer. 

Actuarial Assumptions: The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present value 
of projected benefit payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive 
employees that is attributed to those employees' past periods of service, less the amount of the pension plan's 
fiduciary net position. A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total 
pension liability as of June 30, 2019 are as follows: 
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Valuation Date 

Actuarial Cost Method 

LASERS Retirement System 

June 30, 2019 

Entry Age Normal 

Expected Remaining Service Lives 

Investment Rate of Return 

Inflation Rate 

Mortality Rates 

Termination, Disability, and 
Retirement 

Salary Increases 

Cost of Living Adjustments 

2 years 

7.60% per annum, net of investment expense 

2.5% per annum 

Non-disabled members - Mortality rates for 2019 were 
based on die RP-2014 Health Mortality Table with 
mortality improvement projected using the MP-2018 
Mortality Improvement Scale, applied on a fully 
generational basis. 
Disabled members - Mortality rates based on the RP-
2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table, with no 
projection for mortality improvement. 

Termination, disability, and retirement assumptions were 
projected based on a five year (2014-2018) experience 
study of the System's members for 2019. 

Salary increases were projected based on a 2014-2018 
experience study of the System's members. The salary 
increase ranges for specific types of members are: 

Member Type 
Regular 
Judges 
Corrections 
Hazardous Duty 
Wildlife 

Lower 
Range 
3.2% 
2.8% 
3.5% 
3.8% 
3.8% 

Upper 
Range 
13.0% 
5.3% 
14.0% 
14.0% 
14.0% 

The present value of future retirement benefits is based 
on benefits currently being paid by the System and 
includes previously granted cost of living increases. The 
projected benefit payments do not include provisions for 
potential future increases not yet authorized by the Board 
of Trustees as they were deemed not to be substantively 
automatic. 

The investment rate of return was 7.60%, which was a .05% decrease from the rate used as of June 
30, 2018. The long-term expected rate of retum on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of retum (expected retums, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of retum by weighting the expected future real rates of 
retum by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation of 2.75% and an adjustment 
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for the effect of rebalancing/diversification. The resulting expected long-term rate of retum is 9.00% for 
2019. The target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of retum for each major asset class 
included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of June 30, 2019 are summarized in the following 
table: 

Long-Term Expected 
Asset Class Real Rate of Retum 

Cash 0.24% 
Domestic equity 4.83% 
Intemational equity 5.83% 
Domestic fixed income 2.79% 
Intemational fixed income 4.49% 
Altemative investments 8.32% 
Risk Parity 5.06% 

Total Fund 6.09% 

The discoimt rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.60%, which was a .05% decrease 
from the discount rate used as of Jime 30, 2018. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount 
rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer 
contributions from participating employers will be made at contractually required rates approved by PRSAC 
taking into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on those assumptions, the 
pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of retum on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 

The following presents the Employer's proportionate share of the Net Pension Eiability calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.60%, as well as what the Employer's proportionate share of the Net Pension 
Eiability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage-point lower (6.60%) or 
one percentage-point higher (8.60%) than the current rate: 

Changes in Discount Rate: 
LASERS Retirement System 

1.00% Current 1.00% 
Decrease Discount Rate Increase 

6.60% 7.60% 8.60% 

Net Pension Liability $ 91,349 $ 72,377 $ 56,352 

Payables to the Pension Plan: The City recorded accmed liabilities to LASERS for the year ended 
April 30, 2020 primarily due to the accmal for payroll at the end of the fiscal year. The balance due to PERS 
as of April 30, 2020 is $1,011. 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Positions: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued EASERS 2019 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report at 
www .las ersonline. org. 
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E. Aggregate Net Pension Liability, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources and 
Pension Expense 

As detailed above, the City participates in four separate defined benefit pension plans. The aggregate 
amounts for the City's participation in Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS), 
Mimicipal, State Police Retirement System of Louisiana (MPERS), Firefighters' Retirement System (FFRS), 
and Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System (LASERS) are as follows: 

Employer's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability: 

MERS 
MPERS 
FFRS 
LASERS 

Total 

Governmental 
Activities 

S 2,705,063 
918,729 
454,633 

72,377 

S 4.150.802 

Business-Type 
Activities 

$ 758,329 

$ 758,329 

Total 
$ 3,463,392 

918,729 
454,633 
72,377 

$ 4,909,131 

Deferred Outflows of Resources: 
Governmental 

Activities 
MERS 
MPERS 
FFRS 
LASERS 

Total 

861,423 
228,648 
253,974 
10.928 

Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
Governmental 

Activities 
MERS 
MPERS 
FFRS 
LASERS 

Total 

72,060 
96,231 

132,528 
1.710 

302.529 

Business-Type 
Activities 

$ 244,240 

1,354,973 $ 244,240 

Business-Type 
Activities 

19,112 

$ 19,112 

Total 
$ 1,105,663 

228,648 
253,974 
10,928 

$ 1,599,213 

Total 
91,172 
96,231 

132,528 
1.710 

$ 321,641 

Pension Expense: 

MERS 
MPERS 
FFRS 
LASERS 

Total 

Governmental 
Activities 

S 491,410 
138,585 
114,987 

8.437 

Business-Type 
Activities 

$ 174,086 

753,419 $ 174,086 

Total 
665,496 
138,585 
114,987 

8.437 

$ 927,505 
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(14) Compensation of City Officials 

A detail of compensation paid to the City Council for the year ended April 30, 2020 follows: 

Salary 
Expense 

Allowance Total 
Chuck Autin $ 7,800 $ 1,800 $ 9,600 
Joseph Garrison 7,800 1,800 9,600 
Larry Guilbeau 7,800 1,800 9,600 
Lester Levine 8,400 1,800 10,200 

Jamie Robison 7,800 1,800 9,600 

$39,600 $ 9,000 $ 48,600 

Act 706 of the 2014 Legislative Session amended RS 24:513A requiring additional disclosure of 
total compensation, reimbursements, benefits, or other payments made to a political subdivision head. For 
the year ended April 30, 2020, payments made to Mayor Eugene Foulcard requiring discloswe are as follows: 

Salary $62,308 
Car allowance 5,608 
Benefits-retirement 17,088 
Benefits-health insurance 3,989 
Expense allowance-unvouchered 3,115 
Cell phone allowance 436 

$92.544 

(15) Tax Abatements 

The City is subject to certain property tax abatements granted by the Louisiana Board of Commerce 
and Industry ("LBCI"), a state entity governed by board members representing major economic groups and 
gubematorial appointees. Abatements to which the City may be subject include those issued for property 
taxes imder the Industrial Tax Exemption Program ("ITEP") and the Restoration Tax Abatement Program 
("RTAP"). In addition, local governments have the authority to grant sales tax rebates to taxpayers piffsuant 
to the Enterprise Zone Tax Rebate Program. For the year ended April 30, 2020, the city incurred abatements 
of ad valorem taxes through ITEP. 

ITEP is authorized by Article 7, Section 21(F) of the Louisiana Constitution. Companies qualifying as 
manufacturers can apply to the LBCI for a property tax exemption on all new property, as defined, used in 
the manufacturing process. Under ITEP, companies are reqmred to promise to expand or build mamtfacturing 
facilities in Louisiana, with a minimum investment of $5 million. The exemptions are granted for a 5-year 
term and are renewable for an additional 5-year term upon approval by LBCI. These state-granted abatements 
have resulted in reductions of property taxes, which the City administers as a temporary reduction in the 
assessed value of the property involved. The abatement agreements stipulate a percentage reduction of 
property taxes, which can be as much as 100 percent. The local government may recapture abated taxes if a 
company fails to expand facilities or otherwise fails to fulfill its commitments under the agreement. For the 
year ended April 30, 2020, $46,509 in City ad valorem tax revenues were abated by the State of Louisiana 
through ITEP. 
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(16) New Accounting Pronouncements Scheduled to be Implemented 

The following is a summary of accounting standards adopted by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) that are scheduled to be implemented in the future that may 
affect the City's financial report: 

GASB Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative 
Guidance. The Statement postpones effective dates of certain provisions in Statements and 
Implementation Guides that first became effective or are scheduled to become effective for periods 
beginning after June 15, 2018, and later. 

GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO). This standard 
establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern of recognition of an ARO liability and a 
corresponding deferred outflow of resources. An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated 
with the sale, recycling, retirement, abandonment or disposal in some other manner of a tangible 
capital asset permanently removed from service. The standard is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2018. GASBS No. 95 postponed this statement by one year. The 
City will include the requirements of this standard, as applicable, in its April 30, 2021 financial 
statements. The effect of this standard or its applicability to the City are unknown at this time. 

GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This standard defines and establishes criteria 
for identifying and reporting fiduciary activities. The focus of the criteria is on (1) whether the City 
controls the assets in a fiduciary activity and (2) there are separate identifiable beneficiaries with 
whom a fiduciary relationship exists. The standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2018. GASBS No. 95 postponed this statement by one year. The City will include 
the requirements of this standard, as applicable, in its April 30, 2021 financial statements. The effect 
of this standard or its applicability to the City are unknown at this time. 

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases. This standard will require all leases to be reported on the 
statement of net position under a single accounting model for both lessors and lessees. The statements 
will require the recognition of lease assets or liabilities for leases previously reported as operating 
leases. Both operating and capital leases will be reported under this single accounting method and 
reported by lessees as an intangible right to use an asset and by lessors as a receivable with both 
reporting a deferred inflow of resources. The standard is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2019. GASBS No. 95 postponed this statement by 18 months. The city 
will include the requirements of this standard, as applicable, in its April 30, 2022 financial statements. 
All of the City's lease agreements will need to be evaluated to determine the impact of implementing 
this standard; however, the effect of this standard or its applicability to the City are unknown at this 
time. 

(17) Prior Period Adjustment 

During the year ended April 30, 2020, the following adjustments were required to restate net 
position/fund balance to correct prior year allowance for uncollectible customer accounts receivable 
and understated depreciation expense in the business-type activities and the Water Enterprise Fund. 
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Government-wide financial statements 
Business-Type Activities 

Water Enterprise Fund: 
Beginning balance, before restatement 
Correction of allowance for 

uncollectible utility accounts receivable 
Correction of depreciation expense 

Beginning balance, as restated 

As 
Previously 
Reported 

£ (1,522,018) 

Net Position 
£ (1,522,018) 

(185,809) 

(53,102) 
£ (1,760,929) 

Adjustments 

£(238,911) 

As 
Restated 

£ (1,760,929) 
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General Fund 

Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Taxes: 
Ad valorem 
Sales 
Franchise 

Licenses and permits 

Intergovernmental: 
Video poker and gaming 
Federal Government 
State of Louisiana 
St. Mary Parish Council 
Franklin City Court 

Insurance rebates 

Fines and forfeits 

Rentals 

Interest 

Cemetery plot and mausoleum sales 

Miscellaneous 
Donations 
Other sources 

Total revenues 

Budgeted Amounts Actual 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
Original Final Amounts (Negative) 

$ 527,850 $ 531,850 $ 531,366 $ (484) 
1,850,000 1,940,000 1,708,285 (231,715) 

400,000 400,000 385,311 (14,689) 
2,777,850 2,871,850 2,624,962 (246,888) 

348,000 333,000 377,538 44,538 

262,000 177,000 204,334 27,334 
110,000 332,600 148,691 (183,909) 
170,000 116,000 115,540 (460) 
862,000 302,000 277,132 (24,868) 
35,000 25,000 24,393 (607) 

1,439,000 952,600 770,090 (182,510) 

50,000 50,000 233,523 183,523 

40,000 43,000 38,786 (4,214) 

57,000 31,950 32,587 637 

2,200 1,000 1,430 430 

50,000 55,000 74,395 19,395 

35,000 26,074 (8,926) 
95,400 69,000 47,152 (21,848) 
95,400 104,000 73,226 (30,774) 

4,859,450 4,442,400 4,226,537 (215,863) 

(continued) 
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Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Actual 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
Original Final Amounts (Negative) 

Expenditures: 
General Government -

Administrative 416,700 413,760 424,857 (11,097) 
Judicial 501,600 536,900 560,561 (23,661) 

Public Safety -
Police 1,276,100 1,246,120 1,203,585 42,535 
Fire 728,400 746,100 790,672 (44,572) 

Public works -
Streets and drainage 648,600 686,700 717,688 (30,988) 

Other funding 132,100 221,850 248,110 (26,260) 
Recreation 323,000 339,700 322,962 16,738 
Community development 51,650 99,500 109,001 (9,501) 
Debt service-

Principal 106,000 106,000 106,700 (700) 
Interest and fiscal charges 48,000 48,000 55,776 (7,776) 

Capital Outlay 
Administrative 2,500 - - -
Police 5,000 10,000 8,556 1,444 
Fire 60,000 15,000 877,464 (862,464) 
Public works 7,000 7,000 6,672 328 
Recreation 15,000 15,000 20,489 (5,489) 
Community development - 1,000 - 1,000 

Total expenditures 4,321,650 4,492,630 5,453,093 (960,463) 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 537,800 (50,230) (1,226,556) (1,176,326) 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Proceeds from capital lease - - 861,347 861,347 
Proceeds from sale of assets 43,000 50,000 48,823 (1,177) 
Transfers in - 400,230 405,788 5,558 
Transfers out (581,000) (400,000) (390,925) 9,075 

Total other financing sources (uses) (538,000) 50,230 925,033 874,803 

Net change in fund balance (200) - (301,523) (301,523) 

Fund balance, beginning 782,937 782,937 782,937 -

Fund balance, ending S 782,737 S 782,937 S 481,414 S (301,523) 

See notes to required supplementary information. 
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Liquid and Solid Waste Fund 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Budgeted Amounts Actual 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
Original Final Amounts (Negative) 

Revenues: 
Taxes 

Ad valorem $ 217,000 $ 217,000 $ 219,676 $ 2,676 
Sales 936,000 980,000 960,012 (19,988) 

Sewer service charges 246,000 281,000 220,398 (60,602) 
Sanitation service charges 675,000 730,000 579,505 (150,495) 
Intergovernmental 175,000 160,000 151,378 (8,622) 
Interest earned 100 100 25 (75) 
Miscellaneous 12,000 - - -

Total revenues 2,261,100 2,368,100 2,130,994 (237,106) 

Expenditures: 
Sanitation -

Administrative $ 379,840 $ 394,326 $ 416,210 $ (21,884) 
Meter department 102,550 113,500 118,480 (4,980) 
Sewer collection 366,600 373,200 362,351 10,849 
Sewer plant 536,500 453,900 445,447 8,453 
Solid waste 613,000 638,000 648,720 (10,720) 

Debt service-
Principal retirement - - 50,000 (50,000) 
Interest and fiscal charges 1,000 5,000 10,015 (5,015) 

Capital outlay 60,000 - 16,026 (16,026) 
Total expenditures 2,059,490 1,977,926 2,067,249 (89,323) 

Excess of revenues over 
expenditures 201,610 390,174 63,745 (326,429) 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Proceeds from issuance of debt 800,000 500,000 233,691 (266,309) 
Debt forgiveness income - - 171,248 171,248 
Operating transfers in - - 131,511 131,511 
Operating transfers out (861,800) (1,274,000) (1,169,237) 104,763 

Total other financing sources (uses) (61,800) (774,000) (632,787) 141,213 

Net change in fund balance 139,810 (383,826) (569,042) (185,216) 

Fund balance, beginning 3,474,661 3,474,661 3,474,661 -

Fund balance, ending $ 3,614,471 $ 3,090,835 $ 2,905,619 $ (185,216) 

See notes to required supplementary information. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Employer's Share of Net Pension Liability/Asset 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Plan 
Year 
ended 

June 30. 

Employer 
Proportion 

of the 
Net Pension 

Liability 

Employer 
Proportionate 
Share of the 
Net Pension 

Liability 
(Asset) 

Employer's 
Covered 
Payroll 

Municipal Employees' Retirement System 

Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System 

Employer's 
Proportionate Share 
of the Net Pension 

Liability as a 
Percentage of its 

Covered 
Payroll 

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position 

as a Percentage 
of the Total 

Pension Liability 

2015 0.883401% 3,155,647 1,497,323 210.8% 66.18% 
2016 0.826225% 3,386,457 1,478,889 229.0% 62.11% 
2017 0.701866% 2,936,201 1,274,736 230.3% 62.49% 
2018 0.727959% 3,014,244 1,326,141 227.3% 63.94% 
2019 0.828828% 3,463,392 1,526,023 227.0% 64.68% 

2015 0.109510% 857,896 280,975 305.3% 70.73% 
2016 0.119337% 1,118,524 326,744 342.3% 66.04% 
2017 0.093529% 816,548 248,195 329.0% 66.04% 
2018 0.105378% 890,872 284,374 313.3% 71.89% 
2019 0.101163% 918,729 343,863 267.2% 71.01% 

Firefighters' Retirement System 
2015 0.057994% 313,000 114,242 274.0% 72.45% 
2016 0.074360% 486,382 169,997 286.1% 68.16% 
2017 0.061138% 350,434 139,455 251.3% 73.55% 
2018 0.081638% 469,588 171,193 274.3% 74.76% 
2019 0.072603% 454,633 175,470 259.1% 73.96% 

Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System 
2015 0.001220% 83,114 21,952 378.6% 62.66% 
2016 0.001050% 82,452 22,374 368.5% 57.73% 
2017 0.001080% 75,949 20,854 364.2% 62.54% 

2018 0.001020% 69,836 20,854 334.9% 64.30% 
2019 0.001000% 72,377 20,854 347.1% 62.90% 

This schedule is in tended to show informa tion for 10 years. A dditioncd years will be displayed as they become available. 

See notes to requit •ed supplementary infor, motion. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Contributions in 
Relation to Contributio] 

Fiscal Contractually Contractual Contribution Employer's as a % of 
Year ended Required Required Deficiency Covered Covered 

May 30, Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll 

Municipal Employees' Retirement System 

2016 $ 285,688 $ 286,869 (1,181) $ 1,446,519 19.83% 
2017 $ 290,697 $ 289,495 1,202 $ 1,306,502 22.16% 
2018 $ 316,325 $ 316,125 200 $ 1,295,530 24.40% 
2019 $ 385,245 $ 378,977 6,268 $ 1,469,933 25.78% 

2020 $ 489,068 $ 489,068 - $ 1,782,117 27.44% 

Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System 

2016 $ 78,612 $ 86,433 (7,821) $ 263,503 32.80% 
2017 $ 97,271 $ 96,746 525 $ 310,028 31.21% 
2018 $ 80,617 $ 80,587 30 $ 260,755 30.91% 

2019 $ 103,731 $ 103,681 50 $ 324,160 31.98% 
2020 $ 86,716 $ 86,716 - $ 267,254 32.45% 

Firefighters' Retirement System 

2016 $ 39,904 $ 39,619 285 $ 144,666 27.39% 
2017 $ 38,400 $ 38,603 (203) $ 150,096 25.72% 

2018 $ 51,072 $ 51,128 (56) $ 194,251 26.32% 
2019 $ 43,843 $ 43,843 - $ 165,447 26.50% 
2020 $ 55,082 $ 55,082 - $ 200,206 27.51% 

Eouisiana State Employees' Retirement System 

2016 $ 8,431 $ 8,439 (8) $ 21,740 38.82% 
2017 $ 7,744 $ 7,758 (14) $ 20,854 37.20% 
2018 $ 8,157 $ 8,142 15 $ 20,854 39.04% 
2019 $ 8,154 $ 8,157 (3) $ 20,854 39.11% 
2020 $ 8,927 $ 8,927 - $ 21,656 41.22% 

This schedule is intendec I to show information for 10 years. Addition 'cd years will be dis^ olayed as they become available. 

See notes to required supplementary information. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

(1) Basis of Accounting 

The budget is adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or as finally amended by the Mayor and the City Council. 

(2) Budgets and Budgetary Reporting 

The City follows these procedures in establishing budgetary data: 

1. The City's chief administrative officer prepares a proposed budget for the general and 
special revenue funds and submits them to the Mayor and City Council. 

2. A summary of the proposed budget is published and the public notified that the proposed 
budget is available for public inspection. At the same time, a public hearing is called. 

3. A public hearing is held on the proposed budget at least ten days after publication of the call 
for the hearing. 

4. After holding the public hearing and completion of all action necessary to finalize and 
implement the budget, the budget is adopted through passage of a resolution prior to the 
commencement of the fiscal year for which the budget is being adopted. 

5. Budgetary amendments involving the transfers of ftrnds from one department, program, or 
ftrnction to another or involving increases in expenditures resulting from revenues 
exceedng amounts estimated require the approval of the City Council. 

6. All budgetary appropriations lapse at the end of each fiscal year. 

(3) Expenditures in Excess of Appropriations 

Actual expenditures exceeded budgeted appropriations in the General Fund by $951,388. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

(4) Retirement Systems 

Municipal Employees' Retirement System 

Changes of benefit terms - There were no changes of benefit terms. 

Changes of assumptions -

Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System 

Changes of benefit terms - There were no changes of benefit terms. 

Changes of assumptions -

Investment Expected Projected 
Year ended Discount Rate Inflation Remaining Salary 

April 30, Rate of Return Rate Service Lives Increase 
2016 7.500% 7.500% 2.875% 3 5.000% 
2017 7.500% 7.500% 2.875% 3 5.000% 
2018 7.400% 7.400% 2.775% 3 5.000% 
2019 7.275% 7.275% 2.600% 3 5.000% 
2020 7.000% 7.000% 2.500% 3 4.5%-6.5% 

Investment Expected Projected 
Year ended Discount Rate Inflation Remaining Salary 

April 30, Rate of Return Rate Service Lives Increase 
2016 7.500% 7.500% 2.875% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 
2017 7.500% 7.500% 2.875% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 
2018 7.325% 7.325% 2.700% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 
2019 7.200% 7.200% 2.600% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 
2020 7.125% 7.125% 2.500% 4 4.25% - 9.75% 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Firefighters' Retirement System 

Changes of benefit terms - There were no changes of benefit terms. 

Changes of assumptions -

Investment Expected Projected 
Year ended Discount Rate Inflation Remaining Salary 

April 30, Rate of Return Rate Service Lives Increase 
2016 7.500% 7.500% 2.875% 7 4.75%- 15.0% 
2017 7.500% 7.500% 2.875% 7 4.75%- 15.0% 
2018 7.400% 7.400% 2.775% 7 4.75%- 15.0% 
2019 7.300% 7.300% 2.700% 7 4.75%- 15.0% 
2020 7.150% 7.150% 2.500% 7 4.5%- 14.75% 

Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System 

Changes of benefit terms - There were no changes of benefit terms. 

Changes of assumptions -

Investment Expected Projected 
Year ended Discount Rate Inflation Remaining Salary 

April 30, Rate of Return Rate Service Lives Increase 
2016 7.750% 7.750% 3.000% 3 3.0%- 5.5% 
2017 7.750% 7.750% 3.000% 3 3.0%- 5.5% 
2018 7.700% 7.700% 2.750% 3 2.8%- 5.3% 
2019 7.650% 7.650% 2.750% 3 2.8%- 5.3% 
2020 7.600% 7.600% 2.500% 2 2.8%- 5.3% 
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Combining Balance Sheet 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

April 30, 2020 

Special Revenue Debt Service 

Summer 
Feeding 
Program 

Fund 

Narcotic 
Aid 

Fund 

2000 Water and 2000 Water and 
Equipment Sewer Revenue Sewer Revenue 

Lease Bond Bond 

2000 Water and 
Sewer System 
Renewal and 

Total 
Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Fund Sinking Fund Reserve Fund Replacement Fund Funds 

ASSETS 
Cash 9,952 $16,556 $ 14,373 40,881 

LIABILITIES 
FUND BALANCES 

Fund balance: 
Restricted 9,952 $16,556 $ 14,373 40,881 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Special Revenue Debt Service 

Simmer 2000 Water and 2000 Water and 2000 Water and Total 
Feeding Narcotic Equipment Sewer Revenue Sewer Revenue Sewer System Nonmajor 
Program Aid Lease Bond Bond Renewal and Governmental 

Fund Fund Fund Sinking Fund Reserve Find Replacement Fund Funds 

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental $ 52,545 $ $ $ $ $ $ 52,545 
Fees, commissions, and charges for services - 339 - - - - 339 
Interest Income - 9 32 14 3 210 268 

Total revenues 52,545 348 32 14 3 210 53,152 
Expenditures: 

Public safety: 
Police - 1,471 - - - - 1,471 

Food Services 43,221 - - - - - 43,221 
Debt Service -

Principal - - 151,413 104,000 - - 255,413 
Interest and fiscal charges - - 77,943 1,163 - - 79,106 
Total expenditures 43.221 1.471 229.356 105.163 - - 379.211 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 9,324 (1,123) (229,324) (105,149) 3 210 (326,059) 

Other financing soirees (uses): 
Operating transfers in - - 172,925 50,600 - - 223,525 
Operating transfers out - - - (842) (55,539) (75,972) (132,353) 

Total other financing soirees (uses) - - 172.925 49.758 (55.539) (75.972) 91.172 

Net change in fund balances 9,324 (1,123) (56,399) (55,391) (55,536) (75,762) (234,887) 

Fund balances, beginning 628 17.679 70.772 55.391 55.536 75.762 275.768 

Fund balances, ending $ 9.952 $ 16.556 $ 14.373 $ $ $ $ 40.881 
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INTERNAL CONTROL, COMPLIANCE, AND OTHER MATTERS 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

The Honorable Eugene Foulcard, Mayor 
And the Honorable Members of the City Council 

City of Franklin, Louisiana 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Franklin 
(hereinafter "City"), as of and for the year ended April 30,2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated 
October 27, 2020. Our report expressed an adverse opinion on the aggregate discretely presented component 
units because the financial statements of the City's primary government do not include financial data for the 
City's legally separate component units. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect 
and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the 
City's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have 
not been identified. 

Member of: 
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed an instance of noncompliance that is required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards and which is described in the accompanying schedule of audit results and findings as item 2020-
001. 

City's Response to Findings 

The City's responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying 
corrective action plan for current audit findings. The City's responses were not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the 
responses. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's 
internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. Although the intended use of this report may be limited 
under the provisions of Louisiana Revised Statute 24:513, this report is distributed by the Louisiana 
Legislative Auditor as a public document in accordance with Louisiana Revised Statute 44:6. 

Kolder, Slaven & Company^ LLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Morgan City, Louisiana 
October 27, 2020 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

A. Internal Control -

No findings were reported under this section. 

B. Compliance -

2019-001 - Noncompliance with the Louisiana Local Government Budget Act: 

CONDITION: Revenues in the Capital Outlay Fund failed to meet budgeted amounts by five percent 
or more. 

CURRENT STATUS: This particular issue of noncompliance was only applicable to the year 
ended April 30, 2019. However, violations of the Louisiana Local Government Budget Act were 
identified in the current year. See schedule of audit results and findings item 2020-001. 

C. OMB Uniform Guidance -

Not applicable in the prior period. 

D. Management Letter -

No management letter was issued in the prior period. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Audit Results and Findings (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Part 1. Summary of Audit Results 

1. Type of auditor's report issued on the financial statements: 

Opinion Unit 
Governmental Activities 
Business-type Activities 
Major Fmds: 

General 
Liquid and Solid Waste 
Capital Outlay 
Water 

Aggregate remaining fund information 
Aggregate discretely presented component units 

2. Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness(es) identified 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified 

3. Noncompliance material to the financial statements? 

Other 

/ 

yes 
yes 

yes 

4. Management letter issued? yes 

Type of 
Opinion 

/ 

Unmodified 
Unmodified 

Unmodified 
Unmodified 
Unmodified 
Unmodified 
Unmodified 
Adverse 

no 
none reported 

no 

/ no 

Part IF Findings reported in accordance with Government Auditins Standards 

A. Internal Control Finding-

None 

B. Compliance Finding-

2020-001 - Local Government Budget Act 

Year Initially Occurring: Unknown 

CONDITION: Expenditures in the General Eund exceeded budgeted appropriations by greater 
than five percent. 

CRITERIA: R.S. 39:1311 et seq. Budgetary Authority and Control, provides for the following: 

"A. The adopted budget and any duly authorized amendments shall form the 
framework from which the chief executive or administrative officers and members of 
the governing authority of the political subdivision shall monitor revenues and control 
expenditures. The chief executive or administrative officer shall advise the governing 
authority or independently elected official in writing when: 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Audit Results and Findings (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

(1) Revenue collections plus projected revenue collections for the remainder of the 
year, within a fund, fail to meet estimated annual revenues by five percent or more. 

(2) Actual expenditures plus projected expenditures for the remainder of the year, 
within a fund, are exceeding estimated budgeted expenditures by five percent or 
more. 

(3) Actual beginning fund balance, within a fiind, fails to meet estimated beginning 
fund balance by five percent or more and beginning fund balance is being used to 
fund current expenditures." 

CAUSE: The condition residts from the failure to amend the operating budget for assets acquired 
through capital lease. 

EFFECT: The City is not in compliance with the Local Government Budget Act. 

RECOMMENDATION: The City should implement procedures to ensure that budgets are 
amended when required. 
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CITY OF FRANKLIN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Audit Results and Findings (continued) 
Year Ended April 30, 2020 

Part III. Findings and questioned costs reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance: 

The requirements of the Uniform Guidance are not applicable. 
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CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN FOR CURRENT AUDIT FINDINGS 

APPENDIX A 



Citp of Jfranklin 
ICouisiiana 

P.O. Box 567 • 300 Iberia Street, Franklin, La 70538 
Phone: (337) 828-3631 • (337) 828-6310 

Eugene P. Foulcard 
Mayor 

October 29, 2020 

Kolder, Slaven & Company 
1201 David Drive 
Morgan City, LA 70380 

Gentlemen: 

The City's response, to the audit finding that expenditures in the General Fund 
exceeded budget appropriations by greater than five percent, is that during the 
budget amendment process the leases and related capital expenditures for the fire 
trucks and police vehicles were inadvertently omitted from that budget. The fire 
trucks had been on order for two years and finally arrived during the year and were 
simply overlooked in the budget process. When this was discovered it was too 
close to the end of the year to allow an additional amendment to the budget due to 
the constraints of our home rule charter. 

Eugene P. Foulcard, Mayor 


